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OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

OR
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ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢fie Act: None.
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @aocelerated filer or a smaller reporting
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Act.
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Non-accelerated file [0 (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar [
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$3,975,224,843 for Common Stock as of June 30,.2014
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PART 1
ITEM 1 - BUSINESS

Our company is comprised of two reporting segmeaxitsth America and Rest of World. Our Rest of Wasehment is primarily comprised
of China, Europe and India. Both segments manufactnd market comprehensive lines of residentis gas tankless and electric water
heaters. Both segments primarily serve their reégsmecegions of the world. Our North America segitn@so manufactures and markets
specialty commercial water heating equipment, cosihg and non-condensing boilers and water systanks. Our Rest of World segment
also manufactures and markets water treatment ptedorimarily for Asia.

On August 22, 2011, we sold our Electrical Prodbetsiness (EPC) to Regal Beloit Corporation (RB& )dpproximately $760 million in
cash and approximately 2.83 million shares of RB@imon stock valued at $140.6 million as of thaedBtue to the sale, EPC has been
reflected as a discontinued operation in the acemyipg financial statements for all periods presénEor further information about EPC,
Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Stateme

The following table summarizes our sales from aarntig operations. This summary and all other infation presented in this section should
be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Finan8tatements and Notes to Consolidated Finast&kments, which appear in Item 8 in
this document.

Years Ended December 31 (dollars in millions

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
North America $1,621.7 $1,520.( $1,430.& $1,289.! $1,155.
Rest of World 768.< 668.( 542t 455.¢ 368.¢
Inter -segment (34.0 (34.2) (34.0) (34.6) (35.0
Total Sales $2,356.( $2,153.( $1,939.0 $1,710.! $1,489.:

NORTH AMERICA

Sales in our North America segment increased &depeor $101.7 million in 2014 compared with thimpyear. The sales increase in 2014
benefitted from higher volumes of water heaterslamiters in the U.S., which were partially offsgtlbwer water heater sales in Canada,
primarily due to a decline in the value of the Gdiaa dollar of approximately seven percent verbesi.S. dollar. Our Lochinvar brand,
which we acquired in August 2011, incrementallyeldpproximately $143 million of sales in 2012 canag to 2011. Approximately 40
percent of Lochinvar-branded sales consist of ezgtidl and commercial water heaters while the ramgi60 percent of Lochinvar-branded
sales consist primarily of boilers and related part

We serve residential and commercial end markeuoitth America with a broad range of products inatad

Water heaters Our residential and commercial water heaters dons&es ranging from 2.5 gallon (point-of-use)dats to 12,500 gallon
products with varying efficiency ranges. We offéatric, natural gas, gas tankless and liquid pnepaodels as well as solar tank units. Our
North American residential water heater sales ib2@ere approximately $1 billion or 62 percent afrth America sales. Typic

applications for our water heaters include residsnoestaurants, hotels and motels, laundriesyasines and small businesses.

Boilers.Our residential and commercial boilers range ie §iam 40,000 British Thermal Units (BTUs) to 5.@limn BTUs. Our commercial
boilers are used primarily in space heating apfiioa for hospitals, schools, hotels and otherdargmmercial buildings.

Other.Our North America segment also manufactures expartanks, commercial solar water heating systemisning pool and spa
heaters, and related products and parts.

A significant portion of the sales in our North Ariva segment is derived from the replacement diteng products.

We are the largest manufacturer and marketer adnbetaters in North America, and we have a leaslirage in both the residential and
commercial markets. In the commercial market, wiebe our comprehensive product line including erland our high-efficiency products
give us a competitive advantage in this portiothefwater heating industry. Our wholesale distidruthannel includes more than 1,200
independent wholesale plumbing distributors withrenitvan 4,400 selling
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locations serving residential and commercial endketa. We also sell our residential water heatan@uigh the retail channel. In this channel,
our customers include five of the seven largedbnat hardware and home center chains, including4standing exclusive relationships with
both Lowe’s and Sears. Our boiler distribution atelns primarily comprised of manufacturer repreatwe firms.

We acquired Lochinvar in 2011 for approximately $48illion including an earn-out provision that riéed in a payment of $13.5 million in
December 2012. Our Lochinvar brand is one of thdiley brands of residential and commercial boilethe United States (U.S.).

Our energy efficient product offerings continuébtoa sales driver of our business. Our Cycloneymof@mily and our condensing boilers
continue to be an option for commercial customeogihg for high efficiency water and space heatiiidp a short payback period through
energy savings. We offer residential heat pumpdenring tank-type and tankless water heaters ithNanerica, as well as other higher
efficiency water heating solutions to round out energy efficient product offerings.

We sell our water heating products in highly contjwet markets. We compete in each of our targetacket segments based on product
design, quality of products and services, perforreaand price. Our principal water heating and baitanmpetitors in North America include
Rheem, Bradford White, Rinnai and Aerco. Numerah&iomanufacturing companies also compete.

REST OF WORLD

Sales in our Rest of World segment increased 1&r€ept, or $100.3 million, in 2014 compared witl tirior year. An 18.4 percent increase
in sales in China to $694.0 million was the primsoyrce of the increase.

We have operated in China for almost 20 yearshdhtime, we have been aggressively expanding msepce while building A. O. Smith
brand recognition in the Chinese residential androercial markets. The Chinese water heater mask@ieidominantly comprised of electric
wall-hung, solar and gas tankless water heaterso&lieve we are one of the leading suppliers okwheaters to the residential market in
China, with a broad product offering including étex; gas, gas tankless, heat pump and solar asitgell as combi boilers. We also
manufacture and market water treatment productsapily for the residential market.

We sell water heaters in more than 7,000 retaletaiin China, of which over 1,600 exclusively smif products. In addition, our water
treatment products are sold in 4,500 retail outletShina. Online sales continue to grow in Chind & 2014 exceeded $50 million.

In 2008, we established a sales office in Indialaeghn importing products specifically designedifatia from our China operations. We
began manufacturing water heaters in India in 2@i0.sales in India were $15.1 million in 2014, &nthan in 2013 resulting from the
weakness in the housing market and the terminafi@nco-branding relationship with our largest ilisttor.

Our primary competitor in China is Haier AppliancaChinese company, but we also compete with Mid¢ae electric water heater market
and Rinnai and Noritz in the gas tankless and swdder heater markets. Additionally, we competdwiimerous other Chinese private and
state-owned water heater and water treatment caegpanChina. In India, we compete with Bajaj, MR&cold, Venus, Haier, Havells and
numerous other companies.

In addition, we sell water heaters to the EuromaahMiddle Eastern markets and water treatmentymtsdn Turkey, all of which comprised
approximately seven percent of total Rest of Wedts in 2014.

RAW MATERIALS

Raw materials for our manufacturing operationangrily consisting of steel, are generally availahladequate quantities. A portion of our
customers are contractually obligated to accepeprhanges based on fluctuations in steel pridesreThas been volatility in steel costs over
the last several years.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

To improve competitiveness by generating new prtxacd processes, we conduct research and develbptreur Corporate Technology
Center in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, at our Global Emgiring Center in Nanjing, China, and at our opegalibcations. Total expenditures for
research and development in 2014, 2013 and 2012 $&3.9 million, $57.8 million and $51.7 millioregpectively.
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PATENTS AND TRADEMARKS

We own and use in our businesses various tradefnteakie names, patents, trade secrets and licafvgedo not believe that our business :
whole is materially dependent upon any such tradieni@de name, patent, trade secret or licenseieder, our trade name is important with
respect to our products, particularly in China,idgnahd the U.S.

EMPLOYEES

Our operations employed approximately 12,400 emg#syas of December 31, 2014, primarily non-union.

BACKLOG

Due to the short-cycle nature of our businessase b our operations sustain significant backlogs.

ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS

Our operations are governed by a variety of fedévatign, state and local laws intended to pratleetenvironment. Compliance with
environmental laws has not had and is not expaotédve a material effect upon the capital expenett, earnings, or competitive position of
our company. See ltem 3.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We maintain a website with the address www.aosouth. The information contained on our website isinduded as a part of, or
incorporated by reference into, this Annual ReporfForm 10-K. Other than an inves®own internet access charges, we make availads
of charge through our website our Annual ReporForm 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, curmemiorts on Form 8-K and
amendments to these reports as soon as reasomablicgl after we have electronically filed suchtemil with, or furnished such material to,
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

We are committed to sound corporate governancénawnel documented our corporate governance pradtjcadopting the A. O. Smith
Corporate Governance Guidelines. The Corporate fBanee Guidelines, Criteria for Selection of Digest Financial Code of Ethics, the

A. O. Smith Guiding Principles, as well as the t¢har for the Audit, Personnel and Compensation, iNating and Governance and the
Investment Policy Committees of the Board of Dioestand other corporate governance materials, raayelved on the company’s website.
Any waiver of or amendments to the Financial Coti€anduct or the A. O. Smith Guiding Principlescaigould be posted on this website; to
date there have been none. Copies of these docsiméibe sent to stockholders free of charge wpditen request of the corporate secre

at the address shown on the cover page of this &riReport on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 1A -RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risk factorsfeeth below and all other information containedliis Annual Report on Form 10-K,
including the documents incorporated by referebheégre making an investment decision regardingconmmon stock. If any of the events
contemplated by the following risks actually ocgubhen our business, financial condition, or resaftoperations could be materially
adversely affected. As a result, the trading poiceur common stock could decline, and you may &dker part of your investment. The risks
and uncertainties below are not the only risksfg@ur company.

. The effects of the global economic downturn coaleela material adverse effect on our busir

The global economy is still showing signs of stressl could stall or reverse the course of anyvego If this were to occur it could
adversely affect consumer confidence and spendittgnps which could result in decreased demanth@oproducts we sell, a delay in
purchases, increased price competition, or slowepton of energy efficient water heaters and bsilehich could negatively impact our
profitability and cash flows. In addition, a detedtion in current economic conditions, includingdit market conditions, could negatively
impact our vendors and customers, which could tés@n increase in bad debt expense, customevemibr bankruptcies, interruption or
delay in supply of materials, or increased materiaes, which could negatively impact our abititydistribute, market and sell our products
and our financial condition, results of operatiansl cash flows.

. A portion of our business could be affected byoaslg Chinese econon

Our sales growth in China has averaged approxigndtepercent per year over the past three yearsvarahticipate sales growth of
approximately two times the rate of China’s grosmdstic product growth in 2015. We continue to expeapacity in China to meet local
demand. If the growth rate of the Chinese economreuvo experience a significant slowdown or urbation was to stall, it could adversely
affect our financial condition, results of operascand cash flows.

. A material loss, cancellation, reduction, or delaypurchases by one or more of our largest custemeuld harm our busine:

Net sales to our five largest customers represaqpdoximately 35 percent of our sales in 2014.e&fgect that our customer concentral
will continue for the foreseeable future. Our degemce on sales to a relatively small number ofagusts makes our relationship with eacl
these customers important to our business. We tassare that we will be able to retain our largestomers. Some of our customers may
shift their purchases of products to our competitorthe future. The loss of one or more of ougdat customers, any material reduction or
delay in sales to these customers, our inabilityuzcessfully develop relationships with additiociztomers, or our inability to execute on
pricing actions could have a material adverse efiacour financial position, results of operati@msl cash flows.

. An energy efficiency regulatory change, enactedraamendment to the National Energy Conservatiar(MBECA II1), will becom:q
effective on April 16, 2015 and could negativelpact our North American busine

NAECA Il increases the energy efficiency standgaidJ.S. residential water heaters and impactsagpmately 80 percent of our U.
residential products. Residential water heatersufeatured after April 15, 2015 must meet the neamdards, however, our customers may
continue to sell nowompliant water heaters after the NAECA Il effgetdate. As a result of the breadth of this newdsded, the changeov
to the new compliant products extensively impactsemgineering, manufacturing, logistics operatiand procurement activities. The new
compliant products are more expensive to manufacand we have announced a price increase to stormars. We may experience
operating inefficiencies and one-time costs asaltref the changeover to NAECA IIl compliant pretsithat could materially impact our
financial position, results of operations and cielvs. In addition we may not be able to recovépnabur costs incurred in ensuring that our
products are compliant with the NAECA Il regulatidue to uncertainty over pricing actions.

. Our Lochinva-branded sale’ growth could stall resulting in lower than expectades and earning

The compound annual growth rate of Lochinvar-braméeenues has been over ten percent per year@im@equisition of Lochinvar,

largely due to the transition in the boiler indystr the U.S. from lower efficiency, non-condenshngjlers to higher efficiency, condensing
boilers as well as new product introductions. 1020approximately five percent of the boilers solthe U.S. were condensing boilers and by
2013, the percentage had grown to approximatelyet@ent and our Lochinvar brand is a leader irdeggtial and commercial condensing
boilers. We expect the transition to continue, \Whie
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believe would result in approximately ten percetgh in Lochinvarbranded sales in 2015 and annually for the forddedature after 201
in conjunction with new product introductions. liettransition to higher efficiency, condensing éilstalls as a result of lower energy costs,
another recession occurs, or our competitors’ teldgies surpass our technology, our growth ratédcbe lower than expected.

. A portion of our business could be adversely agfiétty a decline in new residential and commeragstruction or a decline i
replacement related volun

The recovery in residential and commercial consimacactivity in North America remains fragile andnstruction could decline again after
showing improvements in 2014. We believe that tlagonity of the business we serve is for replacenoéeixisting products and replacement
related volume growth was strong in 2013 and 2@kanges in replacement volume and in the construatiarket could negatively affect |

. A failure in our implementation of a new enterpniesource planning syste

We depend on information technology to record amdgss customers’ orders, manufacture and shipuptedh a timely manner, and
maintain the financial accuracy of our businessms. We are in the process of implementing a dlebterprise resource planning system
that is core to our efforts to redesign and deplew processes and migrate to a common informayistes across our plants over a period of
several years. There is no certainty that thisesgswill deliver the expected benefits. Implememtatinay impact our ability to process
transactions accurately and efficiently, which coinlcrease costs and thereby impact profitabilitptherwise impact our business. In
addition, the failure to either deliver the apptioa on time, or anticipate the necessary readiaadgraining needs, could lead to business
disruption and loss of customers and revenue aofit.pr

. We increasingly sell our products and operate algthe U.S., which may present additional risksupbusines:

Approximately 38 percent of our net sales in 20 4enattributable to products sold outside of th®.lprimarily in China and Canada and to
a lesser extent in Europe and India. Approximafely00 of our 12,400 total employees as of DecerBbeR014 were located in China. At
December 31, 2014, approximately $355 million of cash and marketable securities balances wertetbga China. International operations
generally are subject to various risks, includingjtizal, religious, and economic instability, Iddabor market conditions, the imposition of
foreign tariffs and other trade restrictions, thipact of foreign government regulations, the eff@tincome taxes, governmental
expropriation, the imposition or increases in wilting and other taxes on remittances and othempais by foreign subsidiaries, labor
relations problems, the imposition of environmetaémployment laws, or other restrictions by fgregovernments and differences in
business practices. Unfavorable changes in théqadliregulatory, and business climate could heweaterial adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flowswrability to repatriate funds to the U.S. As add@mber 31, 2014, approximately $542
million of cash, cash equivalents and marketabteisies were held by our foreign subsidiaries. Wild incur a cost to repatriate these
funds to the U.S.

. Because we participate in markets that are higllypetitive, our revenues could decline as we regporcompetitior

We sell all of our products in highly competitivearkets. We compete in each of our targeted mabested on product design, reliability,
quality of products and services, advanced teclyiedo product performance, maintenance costs dcel. [ome of our competitors may hi
greater financial, marketing, manufacturing, resleand development and distribution resources Wehave. We cannot assure that our
products and services will continue to compete assftilly with those of our competitors or that will fae able to retain our customer base or
improve or maintain our profit margins on salesto customers, all of which could materially andedely affect our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

. If we are unable to develop product innovations angrove our technology and expertise, we could lmsstomers or market she

Our success may depend on our ability to adadirnological changes in the water heating, boitlernaater treatment industries. If we are
unable to timely develop and introduce new produmt&nhance existing products, in response togihgmrmarket conditions or customer
requirements or demands, our competitiveness dmuldaterially and adversely affected. Our abilitglevelop and successfully market new
products and to develop, acquire, and retain nacgssellectual property rights is essential t@ continued success, but cannot reasonably
be assured.
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. Acquisitions have contributed to our financial rksiand we may not be able to identify or completere acquisitions, which cou
adversely affect our future grow

Acquisitions we have made have positively impactedresults of operations. While we will continaeelvaluate potential acquisitions and
intend to use a significant portion of our avaitabhpital for future acquisitions, we may not bkeab identify and successfully negotiate
suitable acquisitions, obtain financing for futaequisitions on satisfactory terms, utilize cashw from operations, obtain regulatory
approval for certain acquisitions, or otherwise ptete acquisitions in the future. If we complety &uture acquisitions, then we may not be
able to successfully integrate the acquired bus&mer operate them profitably or accomplish aategic objectives for those acquisitions. If
we complete any future acquisitions in new geogemtour unfamiliarity with local regulations andirket customs may impact our ability to
operate them profitably or achieve our strategiedives for those acquisitions. Our level of intBglness may increase in the future if we
finance acquisitions with debt, which would causeaalincur additional interest expense and coutdeimse our vulnerability to general
adverse economic and industry conditions and kimitability to service our debt or obtain additibfi@ancing. The impact of future
acquisitions may have a material adverse effectusrfinancial condition, results of operations aagh flows.

. Our international operations are subject to riskdated to foreign currencie

We have significant operations outside of the Up8marily in China and Canada and to a lessemgarope and India, and therefore, hold
assets, incur liabilities, earn revenues and pageses in a variety of currencies other than ti& tollar. The financial statements of our
foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dslia our consolidated financial statements. Assalt, we are subject to risks associated with
operating in foreign countries, including fluctuats in currency exchange rates and interest matégperinflation in some foreign countries.
Furthermore, typically our products are priceddrefgn countries in local currencies. As a reqiitjncrease in the value of the U.S. dollar
relative to the local currencies of our foreign keas could have a negative effect on our profitgbiln addition to currency translation risks,
we incur a currency transaction risk whenever drauo subsidiaries enters into either a purchassat transaction using a currency different
from the operating subsidiaries’ functional curngnthese risks may hurt our reported sales andtgpiiafthe future or negatively impact
revenues and earnings translated from foreign oaigs into U.S. dollars.

. Changes in regulations or standards could adveraéflyct our busines

Our products are subject to a wide variety of $tajyy regulatory and industry standards and requémgs related to, among other items,
energy efficiency, environmental emissions, lalzelind safety. While we believe our products areently efficient, safe and environment-
friendly, a significant change to regulatory reguients, whether federal, foreign, state or logabtberwise to industry standards, could
substantially increase manufacturing costs, imgraesize and timing of demand for our productqudrus at a competitive disadvantage, any
of which could harm our business and have a matdigerse effect on our financial condition, reswit operations and cash flow.

. Our business may be adversely impacted by prodefectt

Product defects can occur through our own prodeeebpment, design and manufacturing processdsaugdh our reliance on third parties
for component design and manufacturing activiti#s. may incur various expenses related to proddetctie including product warranty
costs, product liability and recall or retrofit ¢é&sWhile we maintain a reserve for product wayansts based on certain estimates and our
knowledge of current events and actions, our astaatanty costs may exceed our reserve, resultirngiirent period expenses and a need to
increase our reserves for warranty charges. Iniaddproduct defects and recalls may diminishrémitation of our brand. Further, our
inability to cure a product defect could resulthe failure of a product line or the temporary ermanent withdrawal from a product or
market. Any of these events may have a materiad@#vimpact on our financial condition, result®pérations and cash flows.
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. Retention of key personnel is important to our hesss

Attracting and retaining talented employees is irtgott to the continued success of our busineskirEdb retain key personnel, particularly
on the leadership team, would have a material effeour business and our ability to execute owiri®ss strategies in a timely and effective
manner.

. Our operations could be adversely impacted by nietprice volatility and supplier concentratic

The market prices for certain raw materials we pase, primarily steel, have been volatile. Sigaificincreases in the cost of any of the key
materials we purchase could increase our costiafdausiness and ultimately could lead to lowerrapieg earnings if we are not able to
recover these cost increases through price incséaseur customers. Historically, there has bekagan our ability to recover increased
material costs from customers, and that lag coatghtively impact our profitability. In addition, Bome cases we are dependent on a limited
number of suppliers for some of the raw materiats @mponents we require in the manufacture opoadlucts. A significant disruption or
termination of the supply from one of these suppl@uld delay sales or increase costs which amddlt in a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations and caivs.

. We are subject to regulation of our internationgkeoations that could adversely affect our busireess results of operatior

Due to our global operations, we are subject toynhaws governing international relations, includihgse that prohibit improper payments
government officials and restrict where we can dsitess, what information or products we can sufipbertain countries and what
information we can provide to a non-U.S. governmimiuding but not limited to the Foreign Corrigractices Act and the U.S. Export
Administration Act. Violations of these laws mayuét in criminal penalties or sanctions that cdudde a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations and ciaivs.

. Our results of operations may be negatively impadte product liability lawsuits and clain

Our water heating and boiler products expose petential product liability risks that are inherémthe design, manufacture, sale and use of
our products. While we currently maintain what vedidwe to be suitable product liability insuranae, cannot be certain that we will be able
to maintain this insurance on acceptable terms thiminsurance will provide adequate protectigaiast potential liabilities or that our
insurance providers will be able to ultimately @dlyinsured losses. In addition, we self-insuredipn of product liability claims. A series of
successful claims against us could materially ahwesely affect our reputation and our financiatdition, results of operations and cash
flows.

. Our underfunded pension plans require future pemsiantributions which could limit our flexibilitpyimanaging our compar

Due to the significant negative investment retumn2008 and falling interest rates in recent yetims projected benefit obligations of our
defined benefit pension plans exceeded the fairevaf the plan assets by approximately $133 millibBecember 31, 2014. U.S. employees
hired after January 1, 2010 have not participatenlir defined benefit plan, and benefit accrualgtie majority of current salaried and hourly
employees ended on December 31, 2014. We are &tiiegdhat we will not be required to make a cdnttion to the plan in 2015, and we do
not plan to make any voluntary contributions. Hoergwe cannot provide any assurance that contabsitwill not be required in the future.
Among the key assumptions inherent in our actugréalculated pension plan obligation and pensiam gxpense are the discount rate and
the expected rate of return on plan assets. Ifésteates and actual rates of return on invedtatdassets were to decrease significantly, our
pension plan obligations could increase materidlhe size of future required pension contributioasld result in us dedicating a substantial
portion of our cash flows from operations to makihg contributions which could negatively impact 8axibility in managing the company.

. We have significant goodwill and indefinite-livediaingible assets and an impairment of our goodwilhdefinitelived intangible asse
could cause a decline in our net wo

Our total assets include significant goodwill andéfinite-lived intangible assets. Our goodwilluks from our acquisitions, representing the
excess of the purchase prices we paid over thedaie of the net tangible and intangible assetaeguired. We assess whether there has
been impairments in the value of our goodwill atefinite-lived intangible assets during the fougtharter of each calendar year or sooner if
triggering events warrant. If future operating penmiance at our businesses
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does not meet expectations, we may be requiregfiect non-cash charges to operating results fodwil or indefinite-lived intangible asset
impairments. The recognition of an impairment sfgnificant portion of goodwill or indefinite-liveshtangible assets would negatively affect
our results of operations and total capitalizattbie, effect of which could be material. A signifitaeduction in our stockholders’ equity due
to an impairment of goodwill or indefinite-livedtangible assets may affect our ability to maintam debt-to-capital ratio required under our
existing debt arrangements. We have identifiedseleation of goodwill and indefinite-lived intandgbassets as a critical accounting policy.
See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Firei@ondition and Results of Operations — Critidabounting Policies — Goodwill and
Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets” included in mhe7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

. An inability to adequately maintain our informatiegstems and their security, as well as to pradetd and other confidenti:
information, could adversely affect our businesd egputation

In the ordinary course of business, we collectstode sensitive data and information, including jpuoprietary and regulated business
information and that of our customers, supplierd bmsiness partners, as well as personally idabtdiinformation about our employees. Our
information systems, like those of other comparaes,susceptible to outages due to natural disagtewer loss, telecommunications failu
viruses, brealns and similar events, or breaches of security.cdfdinue to take steps to maintain and improve daturity and address th
risks and uncertainties by implementing securitht®logies, internal controls, network and dataereresiliency and recovery processes.
However, any operations failure or breach of ségtdiom increasingly sophisticated cyber threatslddead to the loss or disclosure of both
our and our customers’ financial, product and otwerfidential information and could result in regfolry actions and have a material adverse
effect on our business and reputation.

. Certain members of the founding family of our comypand trusts for their benefit have the abilityinfluence all matters requiring
stockholder approve

We have two classes of common equity: our Commonksand our Class A Common Stock. The holders ah@on Stock currently are
entitled, as a class, to elect only one-third aftmeard of directors. The holders of Class A ComiBtock are entitled, as a class, to elect the
remaining directors. Certain members of the fougdamily of our company and trusts for their bengsimith Family) have entered into a
voting trust agreement with respect to shares ofddass A Common Stock and shares of our CommockShey own. As of December 31,
2014 these members of the Smith Family own appratein 61.0 percent of the total voting power of outstanding shares of Class A
Common Stock and Common Stock, taken togethesamée class, and approximately 95.6 percent of/thieng power of the outstanding
shares of our Class A Common Stock, as a sepdeste ®ue to the differences in the voting righgsaeen shares of our Common Stock and
shares of our Class A Common Stock, the Smith Baisiih a position to control to a large extent thkcome of matters requiring a
stockholder vote, including the adoption of amendisi¢o our certificate of incorporation or bylawsapproval of transactions involving a
change of control. This ownership position may é@ase if other members of the Smith Family enter tihé voting trust agreement, and the
voting power relating to this ownership positionyniiacrease if shares of our Class A Common Stodd by stockholders who are not parties
to the voting trust agreement are converted in&weshof our Common Stock. The voting trust agre¢meavides that in the event one of the
parties to the voting trust agreement wants todvétv from the trust or transfer any of its sharesus Class A Common Stock, such share
our Class A Common Stock are automatically exchadrigeshares of our Common Stock held by the taugihe extent available in the trust.
In addition, the trust will have the right to puade the shares of our Class A Common Stock an@@wmon Stock proposed to be
withdrawn or transferred from the trust. As a reghle Smith Family members that are parties tostitiang trust agreement have the ability to
maintain their collective voting rights in our coany even if certain members of the Smith Familyidteto transfer their shares.
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ITEM 1B - UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2 - PROPERTIES

Properties utilized by us at December 31, 2014 \asr®llows:

North America

In this segment we have 12 manufacturing plantatéatin five states and two ndhS. countries, of which ten are owned directlyulsyor ou
subsidiaries and two are leased from outside zarfiee terms of leases in effect at December 314 28pire in 2015 and 2016.

Rest of World

In this segment we have seven manufacturing plangted in four non-U.S. countries, of which theze owned directly by us or our
subsidiaries and four are leased from outsidegzarhnitial lease terms generally provide for minimterms of one to 20 years and have one
or more renewal options. The terms of leases rcetit December 31, 2014 expire between 2015 aPd. 20

Corporate and General

We consider our plants and other physical propettiebe suitable, adequate, and of sufficient prtde capacity to meet the requirements of
our business. The manufacturing plants operatargtng levels of utilization depending on the tygdeperation and market conditions. The
executive offices of the company, which are leasegl Jocated in Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

ITEM 3 - LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in various unresolved legal acti@ninistrative proceedings and claims in ther@di course of our business involving
product liability, property damage, insurance cagey, exposure to asbestos and other substancastspatd environmental matters,
including the disposal of hazardous waste. Althoitiggnot possible to predict with certainty thet@ome of these unresolved legal actions or
the range of possible loss or recovery, we belibased on past experience, adequate reservessamdrine availability, that these unresolved
legal actions will not have a material effect om fimancial position or results of operations. Anmaletailed discussion of certain of these
matters appear in Note 15 of Notes to Consolidatedncial Statements.

ITEM 4 - MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Pursuant to General Instruction of G(3) of FormKlLQhe following is a list of the executive officewhich is included as an unnumbered Item
in Part | of this report in lieu of being includedour Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meetifigtockholders.

Name (Age Positions Helc Period Position Was Helc
Stephen S. Anderson (6 Senior Vice Preside- Manufacturing and Supply Cha 2011 to Prese
Senior Vice President — Manufacturing and Supplgi@hk A. O. Smith Water
Products Compan 2004 to 201
Randall S. Bednar (6: Senior Vice Presidel- Chief Information Officel 2007 to Prese
Senior Vice Presidel- Information Technolog' 200¢
Vice Presiden- Information Technolog' 2001 to 200
Wilfridus M. Brouwer (56) Senior Vice Presidel 2013 to Prese
Presiden— A. O. Smith Holdings (Barbados) SF 2013 to Prese
Senior Vice Presidel- Asia 2009 to 201
President and General Mana+ A. O. Smith (China) Investment Co., L 2009 to 201
Wei Ding (52) Senior Vice Presidel 2013 to Prese

President — A.O. Smith (China) Investment Co., L&Eneral Manager — A.O.
Smith (China) Water Heater Co., Ltd. and A.O. Sni8hanghai) Water Treatment

Products Co. Ltd 2013 to Prese
President and General Mana+ A. O. Smith (China) Water Heater Co., L 201z
Senior Vice Presidel- A. O. Smith Water Products Compa 2011 to 201
Vice Presiden- China— A. O. Smith Water Products Compa 2006 to 201
General Manage- A. O. Smith (China) Water Heater Co., L 1999 to 201
Robert J. Heideman (4 Senior Vice Presider- Chief Technology Office 2013 to Prese
Senior Vice Presidel- Engineering & Technolog 2011to 201
Senior Vice Presidel- Corporate Technolog 2010 to 201
Vice Presiden- Corporate Technolog 2007 to 201
Director— Materials 2005 to 200
Section Manage 2002 to 200
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Name (Age
John J. Kita (59

Charles T. Lauber (5:

Mark A. Petrarca (51

Ajita G. Rajendra (63

James F. Stern (5.

William L. Vallett Jr. (55)

Positions Helc

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
Senior Vice President, Corporate Finance and Chert
Vice President, Treasurer and Contro

Treasurer and Controll

Assistant Treasure

Senior Vice President, Strategy and Corporate Rgveént

Senior Vice President — Chief Financial Officer @& Smith Water Products

Company

Vice Presiden- Global Finance A. O. Smith Electrical Products Compa
Vice President and Controll- A. O. Smith Electrical Products Compa
Director of Audit and Ta:

Senior Vice Presidel- Human Resources and Public Affe

Vice Presiden- Human Resources and Public Affe

Vice Presiden— Human Resource- A. O. Smith Water Products Compa
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offi

President and Chief Executive Offic

President and Chief Operating Offic

Executive Vice Presidel

Presiden— A. O. Smith Water Products Compa

Senior Vice Presidel

Senior Vice Presider- Industrial Products Group, Kennametal |
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Sag

Partner Foley & Lardner LLF

Senior Vice Presidel

Chief Executive Office— Lochinvar, LLC

Chief Executive Office— Lochinvar Corporatiol

13

Period Position Was Helc

2011 to Prese
2006 to 201
1996 to 200
1995 to 199
1988 to 199

2013 to Prese

2006 to 201
2004 to 200
2001 to 200
1999 to 200
2006 to Prese
2005 to 200
1999 to 200
2014 to Prese
2013 to 201
2011 to 201
2006 to 201
2005 to 201
2005 to 200
1998 to 200
2007 to Prese
1997 to 200
2013 to Prese
2012 to Prese
1992 to 201
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Name (Age
Kevin J. Wheeler (55

Positions Helc
Senior Vice Presidel
President and General Mana+ North America, India and Europe Water Heal

Senior Vice President and General Manager — Nortlerica, India and Europe —
A. O. Smith Water Products Compa

Senior Vice President and General Manager — U.&ilReA. O. Smith Water
Products Compan

Vice Presiden- Internationa— A. O. Smith Water Products Compa

Managing Directo— A. O. Smith Water Products Company B
14

Period Position Was Helc

2013 to Prese
2013 to Prese

2011 to 201

2007 to 201
2004 to 200
1999 to 200
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PART Il

ITEM 5 - MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

On April 15, 2013, our board of directors declaaetivo-forone stock split of our Class A Common Stock and @om Stock in the form of
100 percent stock dividend to stockholders of réaar April 30, 2013 and payable on May 15, 2013 réferences in this Item 5 to numbers
of A. O. Smith Corporation shares or price per shwve been adjusted to reflect the split.

(&) Market InformationOur Common Stock is listed on the New York Stocklange under the symbol AOS. Our Class A Commooks
is not listed. Wells Fargo Shareowner Services,. NPAO. Box 64854, St. Paul, Minnesota, 55164-085%es as the registrar, stock
transfer agent and the dividend reinvestment agerur Common Stock and Class A Common St

Quarterly Common Stock Price Range

201« 1st Qtr. 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr. 4th Qtr.
High $53.9¢ $51.15 $50.91 $57.1¢€
Low 44.5¢ 44.1¢ 46.3¢ 44.6(
201: 1st Qtr. 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr. 4th Qtr.
High $37.4: $40.3¢ $46.0¢ $55.1¢
Low 31.01 33.3¢ 36.3: 42.7:2

(b) Holders. As of January 31, 2015, the approxénmatmber of stockholders of record of Common Stoak Class A Common Stock were
720 and 220, respectivel

(c) Dividends. Dividends declared on the commomlstre shown in Note 17 of Notes to Consolidatethitial Statements appearing
elsewhere herei

(d) Stock Repurchases. In 2007, our board of dirs@uthorized the purchase of up to 3,000,00Cshaplit adjusted), and in December
2010, our board of directors ratified that authatizn. In 2013, our board of directors authoriZeel purchase of an additional 2,000,000
shares of our common stock. In 2014, our boardrettbrs authorized the purchase of an additiof#@®000 shares of our common
stock. Under the share repurchase program, our constock may be purchased through a combinati®uté 10b5-1 automatic
trading plan and discretionary purchases in acem@avith applicable securities laws. The numbestafres purchased and the timing of
the purchase will depend on a number of facto@duding share price, trading volume and generaketasonditions, as well as on
working capital requirements, general business itiomd and other factors, including alternativedetment opportunities. The stock
repurchase authorization remains effective untihteated by our board of directors which may ociuany time, subject to the
parameters of any Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading filat we may then have in effect. In 2014, we refpased 2,154,783 shares at an
average price of $48.19 per share and at a tosalod103.8 million. As of December 31, 2014, therere 2,497,993 shares remaining
on the existing repurchase authorizati

The following table sets forth the number of sharesommon stock we repurchased during the fountrtgr of 2014:

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIE

Maximum Numbe
Total Number o

Shares Purchasec of Shares that m
Total Numbe Average Part of Publicly yet be Purchased
Price Pai Announced Plans Under the Plans
of Shares

Perioc Purchase! per Shar Programs Programs
October 1 - October 31, 2014 191,20( $ 47.5( 191,26( 650,09:
November - November 30, 201 83,50( 53.2¢ 83,50( 566,59:
December - December 31, 201 68,60( 54.17 68,60( 2,497,99:

(e) Performance Graph. The following informatiorthirs Item 5 of this Annual Report on Form 10-khist deemed to be “soliciting
material” or to be “filed” with the SEC or subjeict Regulation 14A or 14C under the Securities ErgeaAct of 1934 or to the
liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Excharfct of 1934, and will not be deemed to be incoaped by reference into any filing
under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securiirshange Act of 1934, except to the extent we $ipadly incorporate it by reference
into such a filing
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The graph below shows a five-year comparison ottireulative shareholder return on our Common Staithk the cumulative total return of
the Standard & Poor’s (S&P) Mid Cap 400 Index drelRussell 1000 Index, both of which are publisiheites.

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return
From December 31, 2009 to December 31, 2014
Assumes $100 Invested with Reinvestment of Dividend

430
400
350

300 /
250 /

200 /

150
100
50
U T T T T T 1
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
| s SWITH (A Q) CORP e S EF MIDCAP 400 INDEX e BISSELL 1000 INDEX |
Base
Period INDEXED RETURNS
Company/inde 12/31/0¢ 12/31/1( 12/31/1: 12/31/1. 12/31/1: 12/31/1¢
A. O. SMITH CORP 100.C 133.¢ 143.2 228.2 394.8. 417.9¢
S&P MID CAP 400 INDEX 100.C 126.7 124.C 146.C 194.¢ 214.(
RUSSELL 1000 INDEX 100.C 116.1 134t 156.¢ 208.¢ 236.t

16



Table of Contents

ITEM 6 - SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(dollars in millions, except per share amoul
Years ended December

2014 20130 2012 20112.6) 2010

Net sales continuing operations $ 2,356.C $ 2,153.f{ $ 1,939.0 $ 1,710.! $ 1,489.0
Earnings (loss

Continuing operation 207.¢ 169.5 162.€ 111.2 57.1

Discontinued operatior — — (3.9 194.t 54.4

Net earning: 207.¢ 169.7 158. 305.7 111.c

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling intere

Continuing operation — — — — 0.2

Net earnings attributable to A. O. Smith Corpona $ 207¢ $ 1695 $ 1585 $ 3055 $ 1115
Basic earnings (loss) per share of common s(1).(4)

Continuing operation $ 23 $ 18 $ 17¢ $ 12 $ 0.6:

Discontinued operatior — — (0.09) 2.11 0.5¢

Net earningt $ 23 $ 18 $ 17z $ 331 $ 1.2
Diluted earnings (loss) per share of common s(1).(4)

Continuing operation $ 22 ¢ 18 $ 17t $ 11¢ $ 0.6Z

Discontinued operatior — — (0.09 2.0¢ 0.5¢

Net earningt $ 228 $ 18 $ 171 $ 328 $ 1.21
Cash dividends per common sh®).(4) $ 06C $ 04¢ $ 03¢ $ 03C $ 0.27

December 3:
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Total assets $ 25150 $ 2,391f $2,278.¢ $ 2,349.( $ 2,110.¢
Long-termdebt®) 210.1 177.5 225.1 443.( 242.¢
Total stockholder equity 1,381.: 1,328.° 1,194.: 1,085.¢ 881.¢

@ In April 2013, we declared a 100 percent stoskddind to holders of Common Stock and Class A Com®iomck which is not included
in cash dividends. Basic and diluted earnings paresare calculated using the weighted averagesloatstanding which were restated
for all periods presented to reflect the stockdkwid.

(@ In August 2011, we sold EPC which is reflected dgsaontinued operation for all periods presen

(3 In August 2011, we acquired Lochinv

@ In October 2010, we declared a 50 percent stod#ahd to holders of Common Stock and Class A Coemi@tock which is not
included in cash dividends. Basic and diluted esymiper share are calculated using the weightedgeehares outstanding which w
restated for all periods presented to reflect theksdividend.

®)  Excludes the current portion of Ic-term debt

17



Table of Contents

ITEM 7 - MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW

Our company is comprised of two reporting segmexitsth America and Rest of World. Our Rest of Wasehment is primarily comprised
of China, Europe and India. Both segments manufactnd market comprehensive lines of residentidlcammercial gas, gas tankless and
electric water heaters. Both segments primarily ufeature and market in their respective regiorhefworld. Our North America segment
also manufactures and globally markets specialtyraercial water heating equipment, condensing amdcomdensing boilers and water
systems tanks. Our Rest of World segment also nagtwres and markets water treatment products, phinfar Asia. On August 22, 2011,
we sold our electrical products business (EPC)eigaRBeloit Corporation (RBC) for approximately $7@illion in cash and approximately
2.83 million shares of RBC common stock valuedlat@6 million as of that date. Due to the sale, BR€been reflected as a discontinued
operation in the accompanying financial statemétall periods presented. In 2014 our North Amesgegment sales were $1,621.7 million
and our Rest of World segment sales were $76818mil

Sales of our products in China grew significanthi2D14. We expect sales in 2015 in China to grothe@tate of approximately two times the
rate of China’s gross domestic product (GDP) growthwe believe overall water heater market grogelographic expansion, market share
gains, growth in water treatment and improved pebduix will contribute to our growth. The residadtieplacement market contributed
significantly to 2014 sales in our North Americgisent. Our 2014 North America residential unit sgjeew mid-single digits compared to
the prior year and commercial sales showed simitérgrowth. We expect both North America residaintind commercial water heater
industry unit growth to be flat or show modest gttoin 2015, due to growth the industry experienice?l014 in excess of the growth rate of
the U.S. GDP and the 2014 fourth quarter pre-bupelieve occurred in advance of a regulatory chaegairing increased energy efficiency
from residential water heaters. Lochinvar-brandedipcts contributed $275 million to our net sale2014, and we expect ten percent sales
growth of Lochinvar-branded products in 2015, dniby sales of higher efficiency products and theootuction of new products particularly
condensing boilers. Approximately 40 percent ofhiogar-branded sales consist of residential andneernial water heaters while the
remaining 60 percent of Lochinvar-branded salesisbprimarily of boilers and related parts.

Our stated acquisition strategy includes a numbeupwaterrelated strategic initiatives. We will look to camte to grow our core resident
and commercial water heating, boiler and wateitrtmeat businesses throughout the world. We will alsotinue to look for opportunities to
add to our existing operations in the high grovehions of China and India.

Consistent with our stated strategy to expand ote product offering, we acquired Lochinvar in 20lldchinvar, one of the leading
manufacturers of residential and commercial boilethe U.S., fit squarely within our stated stgategrowth initiative to expand our core
water heating business. In 2013, approximatelyef@ent of boilers sold in the U.S. were condenbioiters, compared with five percent ten
years ago. Our Lochinvar brand is a leading brdrdgher efficiency, condensing boilers. We expgiettransition in the U.S. to high
efficiency boilers will continue into the foreseéakuture.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our sales in 2014 were a record $2,356.0 milliapassing 2013 sales of $2,153.8 million by 9.4 petcThe increase in sales was due to
higher volumes of water heaters and boilers irlttf®as well as an 18.4 percent increase in sal§634.0 million of water heaters and water
treatment products in China. Our sales in 2013 \uagleer than 2012 sales of $1,939.3 million by Jdeicent. The 2013 increase in sales was
attributable to higher sales in China and highdumes of residential and commercial water heatedstwilers in the U.S. Sales of water
heaters and water treatment products in China g&e@ percent to $586.3 million in 2013 as compaoe2i012.

Our gross profit margin in 2014 increased to 3@&&ent from 35.9 percent in 2013. The impact oféased sales volumes of water heaters
and boilers in the U.S., partially offset by higlneaterial costs in the U.S., as well as higher mas of water heaters and water treatment
products in China contributed to higher gross profirgins in 2014. Our gross profit margin in 20d&eased 2.3 percent from 33.6 percent
in 2012. The higher gross profit margin in 2013 ywamarily due to the contribution from increasedes volumes of water heaters and bo
in the U.S., lower material costs in the U.S., higher sales of water heaters and water treatnredupts in China as well as higher priced
product mix as a result of product introductioniwiigher value features in China.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenseee $47.6 million higher in 2014 than in 2013eThcrease in SG&A expenses in 2
to $572.1 million was primarily due to higher seffiand advertising costs in support of increasédmes in North America and China and
approximately $9 million of incremental plannedeptise resource planning system (ERP) implememtatbsts. SG&A expenses were $
million higher in 2013 than in 2012 primarily duzhigher selling and advertising expenses in supgfancreased volumes in North America
and China and higher pension expenses in North ikmer
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On March 28, 2013, our board of directors apprav@thn to transfer residential water heater pradadtom our Fergus, Ontario plant to our
other North American facilities. The majority ofrquroduction was consolidated in the second quaft2013. As a result of the capacity
rationalization, we incurred pre-tax restructurargl impairment expenses of $22.0 million in 2018tesl to employee severance costs,
impairments of assets and equipment relocatiorscdsiese activities are reflected in the “Restntiaty impairment and settlement expenses
(income) net” line in the accompanying financiatements.

In addition, included in operating earnings in 2643 pre-tax gain of $11.0 million resulting frensettlement with a former supplier related
to previous overcharges and warranty costs. Opgratirnings in 2012 included a pre-tax gain of $3illon associated with a legal
settlement with a component supplier for our Camadiperations. These gains are also reflectectifRbstructuring, impairment and
settlement expenses (income) net” line in the a@aoming financial statements.

Also included in 2012 operating earnings is a $8illon favorable adjustment related to the fination of an earn-out obligation from our
acquisition of Lochinvar. The earn-out adjustmenteiflected as “Contingent consideration adjustfrierthe accompanying financial
statements.

Pension expense in 2014 was $28.6 million compr&27.9 million in 2013 and $13.8 million in 20Ithe increases in pension expense in
2014 and 2013 were primarily due to increaseseératnortization of unrecognized net actuarial logséisese years in addition to decrease
the expected rate of return on plan assets.

Interest expense was $5.7 million in 2014, unchdrigem 2013. Interest expense in 2012 was $9.2anillThe higher interest expense in
2012 was due to higher debt levels as a resulieofbchinvar acquisition in 2011. In addition, d12 we sold EPC to RBC and received
2.83 million shares of RBC common stock. During 2@ sold all of our shares of RBC common stocg,itét proceeds of which were used
to pay down debt in 2012.

Other income was $5.2 million in 2014 compared3@$nillion in 2013. The increase in other incom&014 is primarily due to higher
interest income. Other income of $34.3 million B2 was primarily comprised of $27.2 million of gex gains on the sale of the shares of
RBC common stock received in the sale of EPC, hteoimpact of the RBC share collar described Wweldth most of the remainder of 2012
net other income resulting from interest incomery@stments resulting from the sale of EPC. Weivecethe RBC common stock in August
2011 under an agreement that we executed in Dece20h®. The RBC share price appreciated in 201ihdwrhich we entered into an
equity collar contract for 50 percent of the shdies we expected to receive to protect a porticth® appreciation. The collar did not qualify
for hedge accounting and therefore was adjustégirtoalue through earnings from continuing opernasi

Our effective tax rate was 27.5 percent in 201fmared with 28.2 percent in 2013 and 30.4 perceR0i12. The rate decline from 2012 to
2013 is primarily due to increased profits in jditdions with lower enacted income tax rates thenU.S., principally China.

Our 2012 net earnings include discontinued operatadter-tax losses of $3.9 million, or $.04 péutdid share, related to the sale of EPC
which occurred in 2011. Included in discontinueérgpions in 2012 was $6.4 million of expense regméng the correction of an error
primarily due to our calculation of taxes due upepatriation of undistributed foreign earnings.

North America

Our North America segment sales were $1,621.7aniiih 2014 or $101.7 million higher than sales 5520.0 million in 2013. The sales
increase in 2014 benefitted from higher volumewatfer heaters and boilers in the U.S. which weréglly offset by lower water heater sa
in Canada, primarily due to a decline in the valtithe Canadian dollar of approximately seven pareersus the U.S. dollar. Sales in 2013
were $89.2 million higher than sales of $1,430.8ioni in 2012. The sales increase in 2013 was miisndue to higher sales of residential
commercial water heaters and boilers in the U.S.

North America operating earnings were $238.7 miliio 2014 as compared to operating earnings of $2hillion and $199.8 million il
2013 and 2012, respectively. Adjusted segment tipgraarnings were $253.4 million in 2014 as coregap adjusted segment operating
earnings of $237.7 million and $197.0 million in13&and 2012, respectively. Higher operating easianyd adjusted operating earnings in
2014 were primarily due to higher volumes in th& Uvhich were partially offset by higher materiabts and approximately $9 million of
incremental planned ERP implementation costs. Qipgranargins were 14.7 percent in 2014 and 13.8querin 2013. Adjusted segment
operating margins were 15.6 percent in both 2014281.3. In 2012, operating margins were 14.0 peraed adjusted operating margins v
13.8 percent. Higher adjusted segment operatingimem 2013 as compared to 2012 were primarilytduggher incremental margins
associated with increased volumes of water heatetdoilers in the U.S. as well as lower materisits.
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Adjusted segment operating earnings in 2014 exchdde7 million of pre-tax non-operating pensiontsofdjusted segment operating
earnings in 2013 exclude $22.0 million of pre-tagtructuring and impairment charges associatedththransfer of production from Fergus,
Ontario, an $11.0 million pre-tax gain on the satibnt with a former supplier and $14.8 million of4lax non-operating pension costs.
Adjusted segment operating earnings in 2012 exdugle-tax gain of $3.9 million associated witlegdl settlement with a component
supplier for our Canadian operations, a $3.3 mmlf@vorable adjustment to our estimate of the Liwedii earn-out obligation and $4.4 million
of pre-tax non-operating pension costs.

In order to provide improved transparency intodperating results of our business, we are providmgGAAP measures (adjusted earnings,
adjusted earnings per share, adjusted segmenttiogeearnings and adjusted segment operating mgrtiat exclude certain items as well as
non-operating pension costs consisting of intezest, expected return on plan assets, amortizafiaotuarial gains (losses) and curtailments.
Prior year results are provided on a comparablisbRgconciliations to measures on a GAAP basipareided later in this section. We do
not plan to provide non-GAAP measures in 2015.

Rest of World

Sales for our Rest of World segment in 2014 we@B%¥ million or $100.3 million higher than sales$#68.0 million in 2013 due to an 18.4
percent increase in sales in China, driven by as®d demand for water heaters and water treatmaahtigts and higher priced product mix
that was partially offset by lower sales in Indgaulting from weakness in the housing market aaddhmination of a cranding relationshi
with our largest distributor. Sales for our ResWdrld segment in 2013 were $125.5 million highreart sales of $542.5 million in 2012 due
to increased demand for water heaters and watgntemnt products in China and market acceptancerafi@wer, higher value A. O. Smith
branded products in China.

Rest of World operating earnings were $106.7 nmiliio 2014 compared to operating earnings of $88l@dmand $59.6 million in 2013 and
2012, respectively. Segment operating margins \W@re percent in 2014 as compared to 13.2 perceht &1 percent in 2013 and 2012,
respectively. Higher operating earnings and opegatiargins in 2014 were due to higher sales of wetaters and water treatment products
in China as well as a higher priced product mia assult of product introductions with higher vafeatures which was partially offset by
larger losses in India. Losses in India were $7ilbam in 2014, including approximately $1 millioof product development and advertising
expenses related to our planned 2015 launch ofrwaitment products. Higher operating earningsraarjins in 2013 as compared to 2012
were due to higher volumes and a more favorableafwater heaters and water treatment productinathat were partially offset by
larger losses in India due to higher costs for pesduct introductions and brand building as weltlagaluation of the Indian rupee.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our working capital was $713.8 million at DecemBg&r 2014 compared with $614.7 million and $608.8ioni at December 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012 respectively. Cash generatedibyusiness in China and sales-related increasascimunts receivable and inventory
levels explain the majority of the increase in 2034dles-related increases in accounts receivabléinaentory levels were partially offset by
similar increases in accounts payable, resultingsgentially no change in working capital in 2083Zampared to 2012. As of December 31,
2014, all of the $541.9 million of cash, cash eglémts and marketable securities was held by aeigo subsidiaries. We would incur a cost
to repatriate these funds to the U.S. and haveenal of $50.7 million for the repatriation of arfion of these funds.

Operating cash provided by continuing operatiomindu2014 was $265.7 million compared with $282iffiom during 2013 and $171.8
million during 2012. Higher earnings in 2014 werermthan offset by higher outlays for working capiThe improvement in cash flows in
2013 was primarily due to higher earnings from atiens and lower outlays for working capital. Weeet cash provided by operating
activities in 2015 to be between $270 and $280onill

Our capital expenditures were $86.1 million in 20447.7 million in 2013 and $69.9 million in 201Acluded in 2014 capital expenditures
was approximately $32 million related to our ERBliementation. Included in 2013 capital expendituvas approximately $45 million in
China and India for the construction of a secontemheater manufacturing plant in Nanjing, Chind tmcontinue the expansion of our
manufacturing plant near Bangalore, India. The pit in China, which opened in October 2013, gjguted to add 50 percent more
capacity, when fully utilized, to our China watezater operations to meet local demand. We alsamento expand our India plant to
accommodate more water heater models, in-source somponent manufacturing and meet local demangroxmately $19 million of
expenditures in 2013 related to the implementadioour new ERP system. We are projecting 2015 abexkpenditures of between $100 and
$110 million and 2015 depreciation and amortizabbapproximately $66 million. We expect capitaésging in 2015 to include
approximately $20 million related to our ERP impéartation and approximately $30 million related apacity expansion in China and in the
U.S. for Lochinvar branded products to support dhow
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In December 2012, we completed a $400 million rradtirency five year revolving credit facility witlngroup of eight banks. The facility has
an accordion provision which allows it to be inced up to $500 million if certain conditions (inding lender approval) are satisfied.
Borrowing rates under the facility are determingadlir leverage ratio. The facility requires us taimtain two financial covenants, a leverage
ratio test and an interest coverage test, and we imecompliance with the covenants as of DecerBthef014.

The facility backs up commercial paper and credé borrowings, and it expires on December 12, 20&7a result of the long-term nature of
this facility, the commercial paper and credit I@rowings, as well as drawings under the facdity classified as long-term debt. At
December 31, 2014, we had available borrowing dgpat$219.5 million under this facility. We belie that the combination of cash,
available borrowing capacity and operating casw fiall provide sufficient funds to finance our etiigy operations for the foreseeable future.

Our total debt increased to $223.8 million at DelsenB81, 2014 compared with $191.9 million at Decen8i, 2013, as our cash flows
generated in the U.S were more than offset by loaresrepurchase activity. As a result, our leveragemeasured by the ratio of total debt to
total capitalization, was 13.9 percent at the en?2Dd4 compared with 12.6 percent at the end 08201

Our U.S. pension plan continues to meet all fundaguirements under ERISA regulations. We weraeqtired to make a contribution to
our pension plan in 2014 and we did not make artyntary contributions. We forecast that we will figt required to make a contribution to
the plan in 2015 and we do not plan to make anyntaty contributions in 2015. For further infornuation our pension plans, see Note 12 of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

During 2014, our board of directors authorizedpbechase of an additional 3,500,000 shares of emmeon stock. In 2014, we repurchased
2,154,783 shares at an average price of $48.18haee and at a total cost of $103.8 million. At &aber 31, 2014, a total of 2,497,993
shares remained on the existing repurchase audhioriz Depending on factors such as stock pricekiwg capital requirements and
alternative investment opportunities, we expeapend approximately $100 million on stock repurehastivity in 2015.

We have paid dividends for 75 consecutive yearl pétyments increasing each of the last 23 yeargahktotal dividends of $.60 per share
in 2014 compared with $.46 per share in 2013. hudey, 2015 we increased our dividend and antieipaying total dividends of $.76 per
share in 2015.

Discontinued operations financial information isyided in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated FaialnfStatements.

Aggregate Contractual Obligations

A summary of our contractual obligations as of Deber 31, 2014, is as follows:

(dollars in millions Payments due by peri

Less Tha More thai

1-2 3-5

Contractual Obligatior Total 1 year Years Years 5 years
Long-term debt $223.¢ $ 137 $2021 $8C $ —
Fixed rate interes 4.C 2.C 1. 0.2 —
Operating lease 25.17 7.€ 9.t B2 3.1
Purchase obligatior 103.¢ 92.4 5.k 5.7 —
Pension and pc-retirement obligation 159.5 1.3 3.8 8.8 145.¢
Total $516.6 $ 117.C $222.7 $28.z $ 148.

As of December 31, 2014, our liability for uncemnt&icome tax positions was $1.2 million. Due to hiigh degree of uncertainty regarding
timing of potential future cash flows associatethvihese liabilities, we are unable to make a nealsly reliable estimate of the amount and
period in which these liabilities might be paid.

We utilize blanket purchase orders to communicapeeted annual requirements to many of our sugplRequirements under blanket
purchase orders generally do not become commitigbdseveral weeks prior to our scheduled unit picitbn. The purchase obligation
amount presented above represents the value of itomants that we consider firm.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsrdassued Accounting Standards Codification (AS@-80,Revenue from Contracts
with Customergissued under Accounting Standards Update No. Z8)4ASC 606-10 will replace all
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existing revenue recognition guidance when effect’SC 606-10 is effective for the year beginniaguhary 1, 2017. Either full retrospective
adoption or modified retrospective adoption iswald under ASC 606-10. We are in the process ofméteng whether the adoption of ASC
606-10 will have an impact on our consolidatedritial condition, results of operations or cash 8ow

Critical Accounting Policies

Our accounting policies are described in Note Nates to Consolidated Financial Statements. Alstisdosed in Note 1, the preparation of
financial statements in conformity with accountprinciples generally accepted in the U.S. requinesuse of estimates and assumptions
about future events that affect the amounts regant¢he financial statements and accompanyingsnéteture events and their effects cannot
be determined with absolute certainty. Therefdre,determination of estimates requires the exeafigegdgment. Actual results inevitably

will differ from those estimates, and such differes may be material to the financial statements.

The most significant accounting estimates inheirettte preparation of our financial statementsudel estimates associated with the
evaluation of the impairment of goodwill and inaéte-lived intangible assets, as well as signifieestimates used in the determination of
liabilities related to warranty activity, produ@bility, and pensions. Various assumptions anérothctors underlie the determination of th
significant estimates. The process of determiniggificant estimates is fact-specific and takes im¢count factors such as historical
experience and trends, and in some cases, actteafaliques. We monitor these significant factoid adjustments are made when facts and
circumstances dictate. Historically, actual resbitge not significantly deviated from those detemudi using the estimates described above.

Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

In conformity with U.S. GAAP, goodwill and indefietlived intangible assets are tested for impaitna@nually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the @iasight be impaired. We perform impairment revidarsour reporting units using a fair-
value method based on management’s judgments anthptions. The fair value represents the estimateaunt at which a reporting unit
could be bought or sold in a current transactiawben willing parties on an arnbsagth basis. The estimated fair value is then amegbwitr
the carrying amount of the reporting unit, inclugirecorded goodwill. We are subject to financiatement risk to the extent that goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangible assets become imgghiAny impairment review is, by its nature, highldgmental as estimates of future sales,
earnings and cash flows are utilized to determamevialues. However, we believe that we conductuahthorough and competent valuations
of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asseisd that there has been no impairment in goodwithdefinite-lived assets in 2014.

Product warranty

Our products carry warranties that generally rdng@ one to ten years and are based on termsthateaerally accepted in the market. We
provide for the estimated cost of product warrattthe time of sale. The product warranty provis®astimated based upon warranty loss
experience using actual historical failure rated estimated costs of product replacement. The bl@saused in the calculation of the
provision are reviewed on a periodic basis. At Bmearranty issues may arise which are beyonddtygesof our historical experience. We
provide for any such warranty issues as they bedoroen and estimable. While our warranty costs Hastorically been within calculated
estimates, it is possible that future warranty £asuld differ significantly from those estimat&se allocation of the warranty liability
between current and long-term is based on the ¢agh@earranty liability to be paid in the next yeardetermined by historical product failure
rates.

Product liability

Due to the nature of our products, we are sub@eptaduct liability claims in the normal coursebofsiness. We maintain insurance to reduce
our risk. Most insurance coverage includes selfiied retentions that vary by year. In 2014, we tadied a self-insured retention of $7.5
million per occurrence with an aggregate insurdimsit of $125.0 million per occurrence.

We establish product liability reserves for ourfge$ured retention portion of any known outstagdmatters based on the likelihood of loss
and our ability to reasonably estimate such lokerd@ is inherent uncertainty as to the eventualuéien of unsettled matters due to the
unpredictable nature of litigation. We make est@sdiased on available information and our bestmelg after consultation with appropriate
advisors and experts. We periodically revise egésmbased upon changes to facts or circumstancesl3' use an actuary to calculate
reserves required for estimated incurred but nminted claims as well as to estimate the effectdvierse development of claims over time
December 31, 2014 our reserve for product liabiigs $40.8 million.
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Pensions

We have significant pension benefit costs thadasesloped from actuarial valuations. The valuatiilect key assumptions regarding,
among other things, discount rates, expected retiplan assets, retirement ages, and years aEeefonsideration is given to current
market conditions, including changes in interetggan making these assumptions. Our assumptiothéoexpected return on plan assets was
7.75 percent in 2014 compared to 8.00 percent 1820he discount rate used to determine net perjpginsion costs increased to 4.85 pel

in 2014 from 4.05 percent in 2013. For 2015, oyested return on plan assets is 7.75 percent andiszount rate is 4.05 percent.

In developing our expected return on plan assetsewaluate our pension plan’s current and targettadlocation, the expected long-term
rates of return of equity and bond indices andattteial historical returns of our pension plan. Plan’s target allocation to equity managet
approximately 50 percent, with the remainder aliedgrimarily to bond managers and a small allocetd private equity managers and real
estate managers. Our actual asset allocationBea#gmber 31, 2014, was 50 percent to equity masageéipercent to bond managers, eight
percent to real estate managers, four percenivatprequity managers and the remainder in monekehistruments. We regularly review
our actual asset allocation and periodically rategaour investments to our targeted allocation wdmrsidered appropriate. Our pension
plan’s historical ten-year and 25-year compoundetialized returns are 6.9 percent and 9.6 percesygectively. We believe that with our
target allocation and the expected long-term ratofrequity and bond indices as well as our adiisdbrical returns, our 7.75 percent
expected return on plan assets for 2015 is reatmnab

The discount rate assumptions used to determinesfyiension obligations at December 31, 2014 ai@ #&re based on the AonHewitt AA
Only Above Median yield curve, which was designgddonHewitt to provide a means for plan sponsorgaioie the liabilities of their
postretirement benefit plans. The AA Only Above liéedcurve represents a series of annual discoted feom bonds with AA minimum
average rating as rated by Moody’s Investor Senstandard &Poor’s and Fitch Ratings. We will coog to evaluate our actuarial
assumptions at least annually, and we will adjustassumptions as necessary.

We estimate that we will recognize minimal penstapense in 2015 compared to $28.6 million in 20¥é.have made changes to our
pension plan including closing the plan to new amis effective January 1, 2010, and the sunsetigplan for the majority of our employees
on December 31, 2014 which we believe will sigrifily decrease pension expense beginning in 20iBeting the expected return on plan
assets by 25 basis points would increase our msiqre expense for 2015 by approximately $1.9 mmllioowering the discount rate by 25
basis points would decrease our 2015 net pensipense by approximately $0.1 million.

Nor-GAAP Measures

We provide noncAAP measures (adjusted earnings, adjusted earpargshare, and adjusted segment operating eayrirexclude certa
items as well as non-operating pension costs dimgisf interest cost, expected return on plantassenortization of actuarial gains (losses)
and curtailments. We believe that these comporamisnsion cost better reflect ongoing operatirgteel costs of providing pension benefits
to our employees.

As such, we believe that the measures of adjustedrgs, adjusted earnings per share and adjustgdent operating earnings provide
management and investors with a useful measurarasferational results. We have prepared quargertyannual reconciliations of adjusted
earnings, adjusted earnings per share and adjsestgdent operating earnings for the years 2012-204ith have been provided in the
Supplemental Financial Data documents posted ifnthesstor Relations section on our website in adidito the following reconciliations.
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A. O. SMITH CORPORATION
Adjusted Earnings and Adjusted EPS
(dollars in millions, except per share data)
(unaudited)

The following is a reconciliation of earnings arillittd earnings per share (EPS) to adjusted ear{magn-GAAP) and adjusted EPS (non-
GAAP):

Years ended December :

2014 2013 2012
Earnings from continuing operations (GAAP) $207.¢ $169.7 $162.¢
Non-operating pension costs, before 217 19.7 6.€
Tax effect of no-operating pension cos (8.5 (7.9 (2.6)
Restructuring and impairment expenses, befor: — 22.C —
Tax effect of restructuring and impairment exper — (5.6) —
Settlement income, before t — (11.0 (3.9
Tax effect of settlement incon — 4.2 1.C
Contingent consideration adjustment, before — — (3.9
Tax effect of contingent consideration adjustr — — 1.2
Net gain on shares of Regal Beloit Corporationlstoud collar adjustment
before tax — — (27.2)
Tax effect of net gain on shares of Regal Beloitpg@eaation stock and coll:
adjustment: — — 10.4
Adjusted Earnings $221.( $191.C $145.]
Diluted continuing EPS (GAAP) $ 2.2¢ $ 1.8t $ 1.7¢
Nonr-operating pension costs per diluted share, befor 0.2¢4 0.21 0.07
Tax effect of no-operating pension costs per diluted st (0.09) (0.0¢) (0.09)
Restructuring and impairment expenses per dilutages before ta — 0.2¢ —
Tax effect of restructuring and impairment expensasdiluted shar — (0.0€) —
Settlement income per diluted share, before — (0.12) (0.09
Tax effect of settlement income per diluted st — 0.0t 0.01
Contingent consideration adjustment per dilutedeshzefore ta: — — (0.03)
Tax effect of contingent consideration adjustmeartgiluted shar — — 0.01
Net gain on shares of Regal Beloit Corporationlstnad collar adjustments
per diluted share, before t — — (0.29)
Tax effect of net gain on shares of Regal Beloitpdaation stock and colli
adjustments per diluted she — — 0.11
Adjusted EPS $ 2.4 $ 2.0¢ $ 1.5¢€
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A. O. SMITH CORPORATION
Adjusted Segment Operating Earnings
(dollars in millions)
(unaudited)

The following is a reconciliation of segment opargtearnings to adjusted segment operating earriimgs GAAP):

Years ended December :

2014 2013 2012

Segment Operating Earnings (GAAP]

North America $238.7 $211.¢ $199.¢

Rest of World 106.7 88.C 59.€

Inter-segment earnings eliminatis (0.7) — —
Total Segment Operating Earnings (GAAP) $345.3 $299.¢ $259.4
Adjustments

North America $ 14.7 $ 25.¢ $ (2.9

Rest of World — — —
Total Adjustments $ 14.7 $ 25.€ $ (2.9
Adjusted Segment Operating Earnings

North America $253.2 $237. $197.(

Rest of World 106.7 88.C 59.¢

Inter-segment earnings eliminatis (0.0 — —
Total Adjusted Segment Operating Earnings $360.( $325. $256.¢

Additional information:

Years ended December :

2014 2013 2012
Adjustments: North America Segment
Non-operating pension cos $14.7 $14.¢ $4.4
Restructuring and impairment expen — 22.C —
Settlement incom — (11.0 (3.9
Contingent consideration adjustmu — — (3.3
Total North America Segment Adjustments $14.5 $ 25.¢ $(2.8)

The following is a reconciliation of diluted eargmper share from continuing operations (GAAP)ilated Adjusted EPS from continuing
operations (non-GAAP). We will not report adjustedsS for 2015:

2015 Year Endec

Guidance 2014 2013 2012
Diluted EPS from continuing operations (GAAP) $2.65- $2.8( $2.2¢ $ 1.8 $ 1.7t
Non-operating pension costs per diluted share, nebc 0.1t 0.1z 0.0

Restructuring and impairment expenses per dilutades net of ta — 0.17 —
Settlement income per diluted share, net of — (0.07) (0.03)

Gain on sale of RBC shares and collar adjustmendihged share, net of

tax — — (0.1¢)
Contingent consideration adjustment per dilutedeshaet of ta — — (0.02)
Adjusted EPS from continuing operatic $2.4: $2.0¢ $ 1.5€
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Outlook

As we enter 2015, we continue to expect strondjtplide growth in China, driven by expected conédwverall market growth, market share
gains, improved product mix and water treatmentfioWe expect sales in 2015 in China to grow atréte of approximately two times the
rate of China’s gross domestic product growthhet).S. we believe an expected continued transfitam non-condensing, lower efficiency
boilers to condensing, higher efficiency boileisyall as continued new product introductions, alllbw Lochinvar branded sales to contii
the ten percent pace of growth in 2015. We belies&ential and commercial water heater volumaberlJ.S. will be flat or show modest
growth in 2015, as we expect new construction égtte slowly improve. An energy efficiency reguday change impacting approximately
percent of U.S. residential water heaters will beeeffective April 16, 2015. Our new compliant puots are more expensive to manufact
and we announced an average price increase ofxapyaiely 20 percent on these products. We expenesaperating inefficiencies and one-
time costs in the first half of 2015 as we implefri&ie changeover to the new compliant residenta&kwheater line.

Combining all these factors, we expect 2015 saléisarease approximately ten percent from 201429 earnings to be in the range of
$2.65 to $2.80 per share.

OTHER MATTERS
Environmental

Our operations are governed by a number of fedfnadign, state, local and environmental laws comiog the generation and managemet
hazardous materials, the discharge of pollutantstire environment and remediation of sites ownethb company or third parties. We have
expended financial and managerial resources complyith such laws. Expenditures related to envirental matters were not material in
2014 and are not expected to be material in arglesiyear. We have reserves associated with envieatahobligations at various facilities
and we believe these reserves are sufficient terc@asonably anticipated remediation costs. Aljhowe believe that our operations are
substantially in compliance with such laws and r@improcedures designed to maintain complianeethre no assurances that substantial
additional costs for compliance will not be incutia the future. However, since the same laws goweer competitors, we should not be
placed at a competitive disadvantage.

Market Risk

We are exposed to various types of market risksaily currency. We monitor our risks in such @em a continuous basis and generally
enter into forward contracts to minimize such expes for periods of less than one year. We do mgage in speculation in our derivatives
strategies. Further discussion regarding derivatigguments is contained in Note 1 of Notes to €didated Financial Statements.

We enter into foreign currency forward contractsiaimize the effect of fluctuating foreign currées. At December 31, 2014, we had net
foreign currency contracts outstanding of $141 Bioni. Assuming a hypothetical ten percent movemenhe respective currencies, the
potential foreign exchange gain or loss associaittthe change in rates would amount to $14.2iomllGains and losses from our forward
contract activities will be offset by gains anddes in the underlying transactions being hedged.

Our earnings exposure related to movements inasteates is primarily derived from outstandingflog-rate debt instruments that are
determined by short-term money market rates. Atebdmer 31, 2014, we had $180.5 million in outstagdioating-rate debt with a weighted-
average interest rate of 1.3 percent at year ergplthetical ten percent annual increase or deergsthe year-end average cost of our
outstanding floating-rate debt would result in amfpe in annual pre-tax interest expense of appi@eiyn $0.2 million.

Forward-Looking Statements

This filing contains statements that the comparliebes are “forward-looking statements” within imeaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statents generally can be identified by the use aflezsuch as “may,” “will,” “expect,”
“intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “fagcast,” “guidance” or words of similar meaning. $bdorwardlooking statements are subj

to risks and uncertainties that could cause acasailts to differ materially from those anticipatsiof the date of this filing. Important factors
that could cause actual results to differ materifsthm these expectations include, among othegthithe following: uncertain operating
inefficiencies, costs and effects of pricing acti@ssociated with the implementation of the Natidypliance Energy Conservation Act
update (NAECA lIl) energy efficiency standard charagpplicable to U.S. residential water heatersertam cost savings and timeframes
associated with the implementation of the new @niggs resources planning system; potential weakeanithe high efficiency boiler segmi

in the U.S.; the ability to execute our acquisitstrategy; significant volatility in raw materialipes; competitive pressures on the company’s
businesses; inability to implement pricing actionstability in the company’s replacement marksteength or duration of any recoveries in
U.S. residential or commercial construction; a slown in the growth of the Chinese economy;
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foreign currency fluctuations; and adverse genecahomic conditions and capital market deterioratirward-looking statements included
in this filing are made only as of the date of tte@kease, and the company is under no obligatiuptiate these statements to reflect
subsequent events or circumstances. All subseaquréten and oral forward-looking statements atttézlito the company, or persons acting
on its behalf, are qualified entirely by these @mnadry statements.

ITEM 7A - QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK ET RISK
See “Market Risk” above.
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ITEM 8 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
A. O. Smith Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of A. O. Smith Corporation as of Decer8hgR014 and 2013, and the rele
consolidated statements of earnings, comprehepsirengs, stockholders’ equity and cash flows faheof the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2014. Our audits also includediriancial statement schedule listed in the ingtdkem 15(a). These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibilityeofdmpany’s management. Our responsibility ixgress an opinion on these financial
statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptesiused and significant estimates made by marnageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of A. O.
Smith Corporation at December 31, 2014 and 2013 tl@ consolidated results of its operations asmdash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2014, in confgrmith U.S. generally accepted accounting princdpklso, in our opinion, the related
financial statement schedule, when consideredatioa to the basic financial statements takenabale, presents fairly in all material
respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), A. O. Smith
Corporation’s internal control over financial refiog as of December 31, 2014, based on criterabéished in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@imgtions of the Treadway Commission (2013 franrkjvand our report dated
February 17, 2015 expressed an unqualified opitfiereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
February 17, 2015
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 (dollars in millior

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel
Marketable securitie
Receivable:
Inventories
Deferred income taxe
Other current asse

Total Current Assets

Net property, plant and equipme
Goodwill

Other intangible!

Other asset

Total Assets

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Trade payable
Accrued payroll and benefi
Accrued liabilities
Product warrantie
Long-term debt due within one ye

Total Current Liabilities

Long-term debi

Deferred income taxe

Product warrantie
Pos-retirement benefit obligatio
Pension liabilities

Other liabilities

Total Liabilities
Commitments and contingenci

Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stoc
Class A Common Stock (shares issued 13,220,4703288,516
Common Stock (shares issued 82,133,326 and 82 1%)*
Capital in excess of par vali
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive |i
Treasury stock at co

Total Stockholders’ Equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

See accompanying notes which are an integral pénese statements.
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2014 2013
$ 3194 $ 380.7
222 105.:
475.. 458.
208.: 193.4
40.F 40.1
52.¢ 27.4
1,319.(  1,205.
427.1 391.:
428.¢ 433
308. 324.¢
31.c 36.
$2,515.0  $2,391.
$ 3936 $ 387.
70. 61.7
85.1 81.c
42.: 46.7
13.7 14.2
605.2 590.¢
210.1 177.
21.4 21.(
93.¢ 89.¢
9.6 10.C
133.1 110.7
60.7 62.€
1,134.(  1,062.
66.1 66.£
82.1 82.1
600.1 589.7
1,135 982.:
(272.0  (259.)
(230.5)  (132.9
1,381.0  1,328.
$2,515.0  $2,391.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions, ekpep share amoun

2014 2013 2012

Continuing Operations

Net sales $2,356.( $2,153.¢ $1,939.

Cost of products sol 1,496.. 1,380.C 1,287.

Gross profit 859.: 773.¢ 652.(

Selling, general and administrative exper 572.1 524t 450.k

Restructuring, impairment and settlement experisesrfie)- net — 11.C (3.9

Contingent consideration adjustm — — (3.3

Interest expens 5.7 5.7 9.2

Other income- net (5.2 (3.9 (34.9)

Earnings before provision for income ta: 286.7 236.4 233.¢

Provision for income taxe 78.€ 66.7 71.2
Earnings from Continuing Operations 207.¢ 169.% 162.€
Discontinued Operations

Loss on sale of discontinued EPC operations, inefuthx provision of $6.4 in 201 — — (3.9

Net Earnings $ 207.¢ $ 169.7 $ 158.5
Net Earnings (Loss) Per Share of Common Stock

Continuing operation $ 23C $ 184 $ 1.7¢

Discontinued operatior — — (0.09
Net Earnings $ 23C $ 184 $ 1.7¢
Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) Per Share of Common Sk

Continuing operation $ 226 $ 18 $ 1.7%

Discontinued operatior — — (0.0
Net Earnings $ 226 $ 18 $ 1.71
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS
Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic

2014 2013 2012

Net Earnings $207.¢  $169.7 $158.7
Other comprehensive (loss) earnil

Foreign currency translation adjustme (16.€) 0.4 3.C

Unrealized net (loss) gain on cash flow derivathatruments, less related income tax benefit (jsiow)

of $0.1 in 2014, $(0.2) in 2013 and $(0.6) in 2 (0.7 0.2 1.C
Change in pension liability less related income(f@ovision) benefit of $(1.0) in 2014, $(39.7)2613
and $13.6 in 201 3.8 60.7 (22.9

Unrealized loss on investments less related indaxéenefit of $0.7 in 201 — — (1.2

Comprehensive Earnin $194.¢  $231.1 $139.]

See accompanying notes which are an integral pénese statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic

Operating Activities
Net earning:
Loss from discontinued operatio

Adjustments to reconcile earnings from continuipgmtions to cash provided by operating activil

Depreciation and amortizatic

Pension expens

Loss on disposal of asst

Unrealized gain on investme

Net changes in operating assets and liabilitiesphacquisitions
Current assets and liabilitit
Noncurrent assets and liabiliti

Cash Provided by Operating Activities- continuing operations
Cash Used in Operating Activities- discontinued operations

Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Investing Activities

Acquisitions of businesst

Investments in marketable securit
Proceeds from sale of marketable secur
Capital expenditure

Cash Used in Investing Activities

Financing Activities

Long-term debt incurre:

Long-term debt repai

Common stock repurchas

Net proceeds from stock option activ
Dividends paic

Cash Used in Financing Activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivale-beginning of yea

Cash and Cash Equivalents-End of Year

See accompanying notes which are an integral pénese statements.
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2014 2013 2012
$207.6 $169.7 $158.]
— — 3.
59.¢ 59.7 54.¢
28.€ 27.¢ 13.¢
0.1 0.2 1.1
— — (27.9)
(38.1) 20.E (36.6)
7. 4.2 3.
265.7 282.: 171.€
(1.6) (2.6 (280
263.¢ 279.€ 143.¢
— @0 (135
(321.9  (132.)  (311.9)
202.( 226.: 308.(
(86.)  (97.) _ (69.9
(206.0) (82  (86.9

34.: — —
— (51.5  (218.9
(103.5 (737  (22.0
4.8 10.2 20.F
(54.)  (42.6) _ (33.0)
(1199 (157.  (253.9
(61.9 113  (196.9
380.7 266.¢ 463.2
$319.. $380.7 $266.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic

Class A Common Stock
Balance at the beginning of the y:
Conversion of Class A Common Stc

Balance at the end of the ye

Common Stock
Balance at the beginning of the y:
Conversion of Class A Common Stc

Balance at the end of the ye

Capital in Excess of Par Value

Balance at the beginning of the y:

Conversion of Class A Common Stc

Issuance of share un

Vesting of share unil

Stock based compensation expe

Exercises of stock optiot

Tax benefit from exercises of stock options andimgof share unit
Stock incentives and direct’ compensatiol

Balance at the end of the y¢

Retained Earnings

Balance at the beginning of the y:
Net earning:

Cash dividends on stox

Balance at the end of the ye

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Balance at the beginning of the y:
Foreign currency translation adjustme

Unrealized net (loss) gain on cash flow derivathsgruments, less related income tax benefit

(provision) of $0.1 in 2014, $(0.2) in 2013 and.$jan 2012

Change in pension liability less related income(fawvision) benefit of $(1.0) in 2014, $(39.7)2613

and $13.6 in 201

Unrealized loss on investments less related incamerovision of $0.7 in 201

Balance at the end of the y¢

Treasury Stock
Balance at the beginning of the y:

Exercise of stock options, net of 5,846, 29,126 3841516 shares surrendered as proceeds and to

taxes in 2014, 2013 and 20
Stock incentives and direct’ compensatiol
Shares repurchas:
Vesting of share unil

Balance at the end of the y¢

Total Stockholders' Equity

See accompanying notes which are an integral pénese statements
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2014 2013 2012
$ 664 $ 665 $ 72F
0.9 (0.2) (6.0

$ 660 $ 664 $ 66F
$ 821 $ 821 §$ 80¢
— — 1.2

$ 821 $ 821 § 821
$ 589.7 $ 580 §$ 575.¢
2 0.1 4.8
(5.1) (5.1) (3.9
(3.1) (3.0 4.
10.2 9.8 6.6
(0.2 (3.0 (11.9
2.4 4.8 8.

5. 5.6 4E

$ 600.1 $ 589.7 §$ 580.
$ 982 $ 8551 $ 729.¢
207.¢ 169.7 158.7
(54.5) (42.6) (33.5)
$1,135! $ 982 $ 855.1
$(259.) $(320.5 $ (300.9
(16.6) 0.4 3.C
(0.1) 0.3 1.
3.8 60.7 (22.4)
— — (1.2)
$ (272.0 $(259.) $ (320.5)
$(1326 $ (69.6 $ (729
2.€ 7.5 19.7

0.2 0.2 0.2
(103.9) (73.7) (22.0
3.1 3.C 4.8
$(230.5) $ (1329 $ (69.6
$1,381.0 $1,328.  $1,194..
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization. A. O. Smith Corporation (A. O. Smith or the comppisycomprised of two reporting segments: North Ageand Rest of
World. The Rest of World segment is primarily compd of China, Europe and India. Both segments fiaature and market comprehensive
lines of residential gas, gas tankless and elegtier heaters and commercial water heating equiprBeth segments primarily serve their
respective regions of the world. The North Amesegment also manufactures and markets specialtyneotial water heating equipment,
condensing and non-condensing boilers and watéemsysinks. The Rest of World segment also manufastand markets water treatment
products, primarily in Asia.

On August 22, 2011, the company sold its Electiralducts business (EPC) to Regal Beloit CorpangiRBC) for approximately $760
million in cash and approximately 2.83 million shaiof RBC common stock. Due to the sale, EPC has teported separately as a
discontinued operation. See Note 2 Discontinuedrajoms.

Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include tomants of the company and its wholly owned subsig$ after elimination
of intercompany transactions.

Except when otherwise indicated, amounts reflettele financial statements or the notes therdaied¢o the company’s continuing
operations.

Use of estimates The preparation of financial statements in camity with accounting principles generally accepitethe United States
(U.S.) requires management to make estimates audngsions that affect the amounts reported in deempanying financial statements and
notes. Actual results could differ from those esties.

Fair value of financial instruments. The carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalentsketenle securities, receivables, floating rate ceiot
trade payables approximated fair value as of Deeer®b, 2014 and 2013, due to the short maturitigseequent rate resets of these
instruments. The fair value of term notes with nagice companies was approximately $44.3 millioofd3ecember 31, 2014 compared with
the carrying amount of $43.3 million for the sanaged The fair value of term notes with insuranceganies was approximately $63.8
million as of December 31, 2013 compared with theying amount of $59.4 million for the same dtke fair value is estimated based on
current rates offered for debt with similar maitiest

Foreign currency translation. For all subsidiaries outside the U.S., with theepton of its Mexican operation and its Dutch ngeting
companies, the company uses the local currendyeafaihctional currency. For those operations uaifignctional currency other than the U
dollar, assets and liabilities are translated 8. dollars at year-end exchange rates, and regesmd expenses are translated at weighted-
average exchange rates. The resulting translatiustanents are recorded as a separate componstocgholders’ equity. The Mexican
operation and the Dutch non-operating companieshes®.S. dollar as the functional currency. Gaind losses from foreign currency
transactions are included in net earnings and wetsignificant in 2014, 2013 or 2012.

Cash and cash equivalentsThe company considers all highly liquid investisanith a maturity of three months or less wherchased to
be cash equivalents.

Marketable securities. The company considers all highly liquid investitsemith maturities greater than 90 days when pusetido be
marketable securities. At December 31, 2014, tmepamy’s marketable securities consisted of bank tleposits with original maturities
ranging from 180 days to 12 months and are primévdated at investment grade rated banks in China.

Inventory valuation. Inventories are carried at lower of cost or marketst is determined on the last-in, first-out (L)A®ethod for a

majority of the company’s domestic inventories, ethcomprise 63 percent and 62 percent of the coy'péutal inventory at December 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively. Inventories of foredghsidiaries, the remaining domestic inventories supplies are determined using the first-
in, first-out (FIFO) method.

Property, plant and equipment.Property, plant and equipment are stated at cagird2iation is computed primarily by the
straight-line method. The estimated service livesduto compute depreciation are generally 25 tpeads for buildings, three to 20 years for
equipment and three to 15 years for software. Maiatce and repair costs are expensed as incurred.
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1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (ontinued)

Gooduwill and other intangibles.Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets atg¢ amortized but are reviewed for impairment on a
annual basis. Separable intangible assets, prim@ihprised of customer relationships, that aredeemed to have an indefinite life are
amortized on a straight-line basis over their eatad useful lives which range from ten to 25 years.

Impairment of long-lived and amortizable intangible assetsProperty, plant and equipment and intangible assgigct to amortization are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or chaimgegcumstances indicate that the carrying amauogny not be recoverable. If the sum of
the expected undiscounted cash flows is less ti@narrying value of the related asset or grougsséts, a loss is recognized for the
difference between the fair value and carrying galtithe asset or group of assets. Such analysessaily involve significant judgment.

Derivative instruments. Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 8DBrivatives and Hedgingas amended, requires that all derivative
instruments be recorded on the balance sheetrataflaie and establishes criteria for designatiah effectiveness of the hedging relationsh
The accounting for changes in the fair value oéavétive instrument depends on whether it has ldesignated and qualifies as a part of a
hedging relationship and, further, on the typeeadding relationship. For those derivative instrutae¢hat are designated and qualify as
hedging instruments, the company must designatketiging instrument, based upon the exposure hedgedfair value hedge, cash flow
hedge, or a hedge of a net investment in a forejmamation.

The company designates that all of its hedgingumns¢nts, with the exception of its steel futurestracts, are cash flow hedges. For
derivative instruments that are designated andfgued a cash flow hedge (i.e., hedging the expsuwariability in expected future cash
flows that is attributable to a particular risk)eteffective portion of the gain or loss on theiasive instrument is reported as a component of
other comprehensive loss, net of tax, and is reifled into earnings in the same line item assediatith the forecasted transaction and in the
same period or periods during which the hedged#etion affects earnings. The amount by which thmuwative change in the value of the
hedge more than offsets the cumulative changeeivalue of the hedged item (i.e., the ineffectieetipn) is recorded in earnings, net of tax,
in the period the ineffectiveness occurs.

The company utilizes certain derivative instrumeaatenhance its ability to manage currency expoasmnell as raw materials price risk.
Derivative instruments are entered into for periodssistent with the related underlying exposuresdo not constitute positions indepenc
of those exposures. The company does not entecamtivacts for speculative purposes. The contaet®xecuted with major financial
institutions with no credit loss anticipated foildiae of the counterparties to perform.

Foreign Currency Forward Contrac

The company is exposed to foreign currency exchasies a result of transactions in currenciegiothan the functional currency of certain
subsidiaries. The company utilizes foreign curreiocward purchase and sale contracts to manageothélity associated with foreign
currency purchases, sales and certain intercomgpangactions in the normal course of businessckahcurrencies for which the company
utilizes foreign currency forward contracts inclutie British pound, Canadian dollar, Euro and Maripeso.

Gains and losses on these instruments are recor@d@dumulated other comprehensive loss, net ¢fulatd the underlying transaction is
recorded in earnings. When the hedged item iszesdligains or losses are reclassified from accuedilather comprehensive loss to the
statement of earnings. The assessment of effeetdeeior forward contracts is based on changesifotivard rates. These hedges have been
determined to be effective.

The majority of the amounts in accumulated othenm@hensive loss for cash flow hedges is expeotée reclassified into earnings within
one year.
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1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (ontinued)

The following table summarizes, by currency, thetractual amounts of the company’s foreign currefocyard contracts:

December 31 (dollars in millior 2014 2013
Buy Sell Buy Sell
British pound $— $ 0.8 $— $14
Canadian dolla — 90.: — 72.1
Euro 32.1 1.C 9.1 1.7
Mexican pesc 17.2 — 14.¢ —
Total $49.£ $92.2 $23.7 $75.€

Commodity Futures Contracts

In addition to entering into supply arrangementthimnormal course of business, the company alsyeimto futures contracts to fix the cost
of certain raw material purchases, principally capgnd hot rolled steel, with the objective of miiding changes in cost due to market price
fluctuations. The hedging strategy for achieving thbjective is to purchase commodities futuresremts on the open market of the London
Metals Exchange (LME) or over the counter contraetsed on the LME for copper. Additionally steglfes contracts are purchased on the
New York Metals Exchange (NYMEX

With NYMEX, the company is required to make caspasits on unrealized losses on steel derivativéraots.

The minimal after-tax loss of the effective portiofithe copper contracts as of December 31, 20Bra@orded in accumulated other
comprehensive loss and will be reclassified intst @ products sold in the periods in which theenhdng transactions are recorded in
earnings. The effective portion of the contractl e reclassified within one year. The steel cacts do not qualify for hedge accounting and
are adjusted to fair value on a quarterly basisuh earnings. Commodity hedges outstanding atrleee31, 2014 total approximately

1.5 million pounds of copper and 10,000 tons ofiste

The impact of derivative contracts on the compafipancial statements is as follows:

Fair value of derivative instruments designatetiedging instruments under ASC 815:

Fair Value
December 31 (dollars in millior Balance Sheet Locatic 2014 2013
Foreign currency contracts Other current asse ~ $ 4.€ $1.¢
Accrued liabilities (3.0 (0.2
Commodities contraci Accrued liabilities (0.2 =
Total derivatives designated as hedging instrur $14 $1.7
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1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (ontinued)

The effect of derivative instruments on the stateneé earnings is as follows.

Year ended December 31 (dollars in millio

Location of
gain (loss)
reclassified
from
accumulated
Amount of gain other Amount of gain Location of Amount of gain
(loss) recognized  comprehensive  (loss) reclassified gain recognize recognized in
in other loss into from accumulated in earningson  earnings on a
comprehensive earnings other comprehensive derivative derivative
loss on derivative (effective loss into earnings (ineffective (ineffective
Derivatives in ASC 815 cash flow hedging relatidps (effective portion’ portion) (effective portion’ portion) portion)
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Foreign currency contracts Cost of
$ 36 $ 3.1 productssol $ 3€ $ 2.6 N/A $— $—
Commodities contracts Cost of Cost of
(0.2) —  products sol (0.2 (0.1) products sol — —
$ 34 $ 31 $ 34 $ 2F $—  $—

Fair Value Measurements ASC 820Fair Value Measurementsamong other things, defines fair value, establish consistent framework
for measuring fair value and expands disclosure&mh major asset and liability category measuréairavalue on either a recurring basis or
nonrecurring basis. ASC 820 clarifies that fairueals an exit price, representing the amount tlwatlevbe received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction bem market participants. As such, fair value isaaket-based measurement that should be
determined based on assumptions that market petits would use in pricing an asset or liabilitg. @basis for considering such
assumptions, ASC 820 establishes a three-tievédire hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs usetheasuring fair value as follows: (Level
1) observable inputs such as quoted prices inaatiarkets; (Level 2) inputs, other than the qugigces in active markets, that are
observable either directly or indirectly; and (LESEunobservable inputs in which there is littten@ market data, which require the reporting
entity to develop its own assumptions.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value @aseld on the market approach which are prices dmed mlevant information generated by
market transactions involving identical or compéeaissets or liabilities.

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring faasisis follows (dollars in millions):

Fair Value Measurement Usj December 31, 20: December 31, 20:
Quoted prices in active markets for identical asfletvel 1) $ 224.1 $ 107.(
Significant other observable inputs (Level (0.2 —

Total assets measured at fair ve $ 223.¢ $ 107.(

There were no changes in the valuation technigsed to measure fair values on a recurring basis.
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1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (ontinued)

Revenue recognitionThe company recognizes revenue upon transferd@fwhich occurs upon shipment of the product eodhstomer
except for certain export sales where transfeitlefaccurs when the product reaches the customirdhtion.

Contracts and customer purchase orders are uskddomine the existence of a sales arrangemenpilgidocuments are used to verify
shipment. The company assesses whether the sgtls®is fixed or determinable based upon the payreems associated with the
transaction and whether the sales price is sutjaetfund or adjustment. The company assesses @ity based on the creditworthiness of
the customer as determined by credit checks angsisaas well as the customer’'s payment histohe @llowance for doubtful accounts was
$3.7 million and $2.8 million at December 31, 2@ 2013, respectively.

Reserves for customer returns for defective prodtebased on historical experience with similpesy/of sales. Accruals for rebates and
incentives are based on pricing agreements antikaré& sales volume. Changes in such accrualsheagquired if future returns differ from
historical experience or if actual sales voluméeds from estimated sales volume. Rebates and tinesrare recognized as a reduction of
sales.

Shipping and handling costs billed to customersrarieided in net sales and the related costs atedad in cost of products sold.

Advertising. The majority of advertising costs are charged terafions as incurred and amounted to $94.0 milt318,.0 million and $69.2
million during 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectivehcllided in total advertising costs are expensescaged with store displays for water
heater and water treatment products in China tieaaaortized over 12 to 24 months which totaled &22illion, $17.9 million and $15.8
million during 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Research and developmenResearch and development costs are charged tatiopsras incurred and amounted to $67.9 millior?,.85
million and $51.7 million during 2014, 2013 and 20tespectively.

Product warranties. The company’s products carry warranties that gdiyerange from one to ten years and are basedramstthat are
generally accepted in the market. The company dscatiability for the expected cost of warrantiated claims at the time of sale. The
allocation of the warranty liability between curtemd long-term is based on expected warranty slainbe paid in the next year as
determined by historical product failure rates.

The following table presents the company’s produatranty liability activity in 2014 and 2013:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic 2014 2013

Balance at beginning of year $136.¢ $129.¢
Expense 62.2 68.C
Claims settlec (62.6€) (61.0)
Balance at end of ye: $136.- $136.¢

Environmental costs.The company accrues for costs associated with @mviental obligations when such costs are probatleeasonably
estimable. Costs of estimated future expendituresiat discounted to their present value. Recosa@ienvironmental costs from other
parties are recorded as assets when their resaipnsidered probable. The accruals are adjustEti@msand circumstances change.

Stock-based compensationThe company follows ASC 718ompensation — Stock Compensati@ompensation cost is recognized using
straight-line method over the vesting period ofdeard. ASC 718 also requires the benefits of edudtions in excess of recognized
compensation cost to be reported as a financiny ftas. Excess tax deductions of $2.4 million, $mBlion and $8.8 million were
recognized as cash flows provided by financingvétets in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies (ontinued)

Earnings per share of common stockThe company is not required to use the two-clagbaoakeof calculating earnings per share since its
Class A Common Stock and Common Stock have equigattid rights. The numerator for the calculatiolasic and diluted earnings per

share is net earnings. The following table setthfthve computation of basic and diluted weight®d+rage shares used in the earnings per

calculations:

2014 2013 2012
Denominator for basic earnings per share - weightestage shares
outstanding 90,293,50 92,118,15 92,395,21
Effect of dilutive stock options, restricted stamkd share unit 693,47 669,51 712,90¢
Denominator for diluted earnings per sh 90,986,98 92,787,67 93,108,12

On April 15, 2013, the company’s stockholders apptba proposal to increase the company’s authoshades of Common Stock and the
company’s board of directors declared a two-for-steek split of the company’s Class A Common Stae# Common Stock (including
treasury shares) in the form of a 100 percent stiddklend to stockholders of record on April 30130and payable on May 15, 2013. All
references in the financial statements and foosmmi¢he number of shares outstanding, price pmesiper share amounts and stock based
compensation data have been recast to reflecpthidas all periods presented.

Reclassifications Certain amounts from prior years have been refledsb conform with current year presentation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsrassued 606-1Revenue from Contracts with Custom@ssued under Accounting
Standards No. 2014-09). ASC 606-10 will replacesgisting revenue recognition guidance when effecthSC 606-10 is effective for the
year beginning January 1, 2017. Either full retexdjve adoption or modified retrospective adopt®allowed under ASC 6(-10. The
company is in the process of determining whethertihoption of ASC 606-10 will have an impact on¢bmpany’s consolidated financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

2. Discontinued Operations

On August 22, 2011, the company completed thedfdi#C to RBC for $759.9 million in cash and appmmately 2.83 million shares of RE
common stock. Included in the $759.9 million offtésa final working capital adjustment of $7.41roit which was paid to the company by
RBC in January 2012. The value of the RBC sharebenlate of the closing of the sale was $140.6anilSee Note 13 for further discuss
regarding the company’s investment in RBC stockQf2, the company paid $31.2 million in incomeetaand $3.6 million of payments
related to the sale of EPC.

In the fourth quarter of 2012, the company recorebgubnse of $3.9 million on the gain on sale of E#@:h included $6.4 million of expen
representing the correction of an error primarile do the company’s calculation of taxes due uggatriation of undistributed foreign
earnings. The correction was not material to amyipusly reported financial period or to the yeatled December 31, 2012 and as a result
has been reported as the correction of the errtveilyear ended December 31, 2012. This correatamoffset by a change in estimate rel:
to other reserves associated with EPC of $2.5anilli

The results of EPC have been reported separatelisesntinued operations.

The cash flows used in discontinued EPC operai®as follows:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic

2014 2013 2012
Operating Activities
Loss $— $— $ (3.9
Adjustments to reconcile earnings to net cash gexvby discontinued operating
activities:
Net changes in operating assets and liabil

Current assets and liabiliti (0.9 (1.0 (22.¢)

Noncurrent assets and liabiliti (0.9 (0.5) (0.€
Cash Used in Discontinued Operating Activitie: (1.3 (1.5) (27.4)
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3. Acquisitions

On February 14, 2013, the company acquired 10Gpéeaf the shares of MiM Isitma Sogutma Havalandiva Aritma Sistemleri San. Tic.
A.S. (MiM), a privately-held Turkish water treatmi@rompany. The addition of MiM expanded the compapyoduct offerings and gave the
company access to Eastern Europe and the Blacke§em water treatment markets. MiM is includedhia Rest of World segment.

The company paid an aggregate cash purchase pi$getmillion, net of cash received of $1.9 mitlidn addition the company assumed
debt of $1.7 million and recorded contingent coesition of $1.1 million the fair value of the cargent payment due to the former owners of
MiM if certain targets are met for growth in salgeypss profits and operating profits through 2017.

The fair value of the purchase price resulted imléotation to acquired intangible assets totadd million of which $2.4 million was
assigned to customer lists which are being amattixeer ten years.

MiM’s results of operations have been includedhia tompany'’s financial statements from February2043, the date of acquisition.
Revenues and pre-tax results associated with Mdlldred in results of operations for the year erdedember 31, 2013 were not material to
the company’s net sales or pre-tax earnings.

The company acquired Lochinvar Corporation in Audi@d 1 for approximately $435 million, including earn-out provision that resulted in
a payment of $13.5 million in December 2012.

4. Restructuring, Impairment and Settlement Income

On March 28, 2013, the company announced the mbrenufacturing operations from its Fergus, Ontéaiwlity to other North American
facilities. In 2013, the company recognized $22illian of pre-tax restructuring and impairment erpes, comprised of impairment charges
related to long-lived assets totaling $9.2 millisayerance costs of $7.5 million, equipment relooatosts of $2.9 million and inventory
obsolescence costs totaling $2.4 million, as wek @orresponding $5.6 million income tax benefiated to the expenses related to this n
The majority of the consolidation of operationsunted in the second quarter of 2013.

On March 11, 2013, the company entered into aesettht agreement with a former supplier of a Nonthefican subsidiary regarding
previous overcharges and warranty costs. The tefre settlement agreement resulted in an $11ldmeash payment to the company, a
pre-tax gain of $11.0 million and $4.2 million ofciome tax expense.

On November 15, 2012, the company entered intdtiziseent agreement with a supplier of the compa@gdsadian operations. In 2012, the
company recorded a pre-tax gain of $3.9 milliomtiab to the settlement.

The restructuring, impairment and settlement incewtévities are included in the company’s North Aioa segment.

The following table presents an analysis of the gany’s restructuring, impairment and settlemenémess as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013 (dollars in millions):

Severanc Equipmen Settlemer
Inventory Asset

Obsolescenc Costs Impairmen Relocatiol Income Total

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $—
Expense (income) recogniz 2.4 7.5 9.2 2.€ (11.0 11.C
Asset writ-down (0.7) — (9.2 — — (9.9
Cash (payments) receif — (6.0 — (2.5 11.C 2.5
Balance at December 31, 20 1.7 1.5 — 0.4 — 3.€

(Income) expense recogniz (0.9 0.4 — — — —
Cash payment (1.2 (1.5 — (0.9 — (3.0
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 0.1 $ 04 $ — $ — $ — $ 0.5
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5. Statement of Cash Flow:

Supplemental cash flow information is as follows:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic 2014 2013 2012

Net change in current assets and liabilities, hecquisitions:
Receivable: $(16.€) $(32.3) $(57.0)
Inventories (14.9 (28.5) 5.C
Other current asse (7.7 (7.5 (0.9
Trade payable 6.¢ 58.C 26.2
Accrued liabilities, including payroll and benel 2.1 29.4 3.1
Income taxes payab (7.7) 1.4 (13.9)

$(38.1) $20.5 $(36.6)

6. Inventories

December 31 (dollars in millior 2014 2013

Finished products $100.Z $ 88.¢
Work in proces: 10.7 12.c
Raw materials 121.% 113.¢
Inventories, at FIFO co: 232.% 2145
LIFO reserve (23.9 (21.9)

$208.: $193.

The company recognized after-tax LIFO (income) esgeof $(0.1) million, $0.1 million and $(1.1) nmih in 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

7. Property, Plant and Equipment

December 31 (dollars in millior 2014 2013
Land $ 112 $ 11.:
Buildings 230.¢ 212t
Equipment 504.k 497.¢
Software 69.€ 37.2
815.¢ 758.¢
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize 388.2 367.5
$427.5 $391.%
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8.  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 coneistieel following:

(dollars in millions North Americi Rest of Worlc Total

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 376.¢ $ 59.C $435.¢
Acquisition of business (see Note — 1.6 1.¢
Currency translation adjustme (3.9 (0.9 (3.9
Balance at December 31, 20 372.¢ 60.€ 433.t
Currency translation adjustme (4.9 (0.9 (4.7
Balance at December 31, 20 $  368. $ 605 $428.¢

The carrying amount of other intangible assets istet of the following:

2014 2013
Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulate: Carrying Accumulate:

December 31 (dollars in millior Amount Amortizatior Net Amount Amortizatior Net
Amortizable intangible asse

Patents $ 67 $ G0 $ 17 $ 68 $ 47 $ 21

Customer lists 232.: (69.2) 163.] 232.7 (55.2) 177.5
Total amortizable intangible ass: 239.( (74.2) 164.¢ 239t (59.9 179.¢
Indefinite-lived intangible asse

Trade name 143.7 — 143.7 145.2 — 145.2
Total intangible asse $382.7 $ (742 $308.f $384.7 $ (599 $324:¢

Amortization expenses of other intangible assetldf3 million, $14.4 million, and $14.6 million veerecorded in 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. In the future, excluding the impaftaoy future acquisitions, the company expects éizairon expense of approximately $14.3
million annually and the intangible assets willdymaortized over a weighted average period of 14syear

The company concluded that no goodwill impairmesigted at the time of the annual impairment tesigchvwere performed in the fourth
quarters of 2014, 2013 and 2012. No impairmentgttodr intangible assets were recorded in 2014, 20832012.
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9. Debt and Lease Commitment:

December 31 (dollars in millior 2014 2013
Bank credit lines, average year-end interest mait@s7% for 2014 and 2.4% for

2013 $ 8.C $ 3.€
Revolving credit agreement borrowings, average-gearinterest rates of 1.3% for

2014 and 201 130.( 80.C
Commercial paper, average y-end interest rates of 1.1% for 2014 and 2 42.F 48.€
Term notes with insurance companies, expiring t)nc2018, average year-end

interest rates of 6.1% for 2014 and 6.0% for 2 22.€ 31.2
Canadian term notes with insurance companies, iagginrough 2018, average

yearend interest rates of 5.3% for 2014 and 2 20.7 28.2

223.¢ 191.¢

Less lon+term debt due within one ye 13.7 14.2
Long-term debi $210.1 $177.7

The company has a $400 million multi-year multiremcy revolving credit agreement with a group ghéibanks, which expires on
December 12, 2017. The facility has an accordiavipion which allows it to be increased up to $5@idion if certain conditions (including
lender approval) are satisfied. Borrowings underagbmpany’s bank credit lines and commercial papetowings are supported by the
revolving credit agreement. As a result of the lomgn nature of this facility, the commercial papad credit line borrowings are classifiec
long-term debt at December 31, 2014 and 2013.sAdption, the company either maintains cash bataoceays fees for bank credit and
services.

Scheduled maturities of long-term debt within eatthe five years subsequent to December 31, 2(d dsfollows:

Years ending December 31 (dollars in millic Amount
2015 $ 13.7
2016 13.7
2017 188.<
2018 8.C
2019 —

Future minimum payments under non-cancelable opgriases relating mostly to office, manufacturamgl warehouse facilities total $25.7
million and are due as follows:

Years ending December 31 (dollars in millic Amouni
2015 $ 7€
2016 5.8
2017 4.C
2018 3.t
2019 2.C
Thereaftel 3.1

Rent expense, including payments under operatagpk was $24.3 million, $20.7 million and $18.8iam in 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

Interest paid by the company was $5.8 million, $5iBion and $9.4 million in 2014, 2013 and 201@spectively. The company capitalized
interest expense of $0.4 million and $0.8 milliar2014 and 2013, respectively.
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10. Stockholders Equity

The company’s authorized capital consists of thnékon shares of Preferred Stock $1 par valueniidion shares of Class A Common Stock
$5 par value, and 120 million shares of Common IS§icpar value. The Common Stock has equal dividegids with Class A Common
Stock and is entitled, as a class, to electtbive-of the Board of Directors and has 1/10th ymge share on all other matters. Class A Conm
Stock is convertible to Common Stock on a one far basis.

There were 272,184 shares during 2014, 85,792 skdaréng 2013 and 1,191,706 shares during 201@Jaxs A Common Stock converted
into Common Stock. Regular dividends paid on th©ASmith Corporation Class A Common Stock and Com@tock amounted to $0.60,
$0.46 and $0.36 per share in 2014, 2013 and 2@%gectively.

In 2007, the company’s board of directors authatittee purchase of up to 3,000,000 shares (splistetji) of the company’s common stock,
and in 2010, the board of directors ratified thatharization. In 2013, the board of directors appan incremental 2,000,000 shares to the
existing discretionary share repurchase prograr@0l#, the company’s board of directors authoribhedourchase of an additional 3,500,000
shares of the company’s common stock. Under theeslepurchase program, the company’s common stagkla purchased through a
combination of a Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading @ad discretionary purchases in accordance withicgibe securities laws. The number of
shares purchased and the timing of the purchaséepkend on a number of factors, including shaieeptrading volume and general market
conditions, as well as on working capital requiratsgegeneral business conditions and other fadtarkiding alternative investment
opportunities. The stock repurchase authorizatiensin effective until terminated by the board mécdtors which may occur at any time,
subject to the parameters of any Rule 1Qk#&stomatic trading plan that the company may treare in effect. In 2014, the company purch:
2,154,783 shares at a total cost of $103.8 millisof December 31, 2014, there were 2,497,993sh@maining on the existing repurchase
authorization. In 2013, the company purchased 10B6Blshares at a total cost of $73.7 million. 1A2ahe company purchased 852,980
shares at a total cost of $22.0 million.

At December 31, 2014, a total of 65,190 and 5,889dhares of Class A Common Stock and Common Stesgectively, were held as
treasury stock. At December 31, 2013, a total 0185 and 4,049,408 shares of Class A Common StoglCammon Stock, respectively,
were held as treasury stock.

Accumulated other comprehensive loss is as follows:

December 31 (dollars in millior 2014 2013
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments $ 3.3 $ 19.¢
Unrealized net gain on cash flow derivative instemts less related income tax

provision of $(0.5) in 2014 and $(0.6) in 2C 0.¢ 1.C
Pension liability less related income tax benefi$578.2 in 2014 and $179.2

2013 (276.2) (280.0

$(272.0  $(259.)
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10. Stockholders Equity (continued)

Changes to accumulated other comprehensive lossrhponent are as follows:

Year endec
December 31
2014 2013
Cumulative foreign currency translati
Balance at beginning of peric $ 19.¢ $ 19.5
Other comprehensive loss before reclassificat (16.€) 0.4
Balance at end of peric 3.3 19.¢
Unrealized net gain on cash flow derivati
Balance at beginning of peri 1.C 0.7
Other comprehensive earnings before reclassifica 2.C 1.8
Realized gains on derivatives reclassified to obgiroduct:
sold (net of tax provision of $1.3 and $1.0 in 2@hd
2013, respectively® (2.1 (1.5
Balance at end of peric 0.¢ 1.C
Pension liability
Balance at beginning of peri (280.0) (340.7)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassificat (7.0 35.t
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive los® 20.€ 25.2
Balance at end of peric (276.2) (280.0)
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss, end
period $ (272.0) $ (259.0)
(@ Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comgmstve loss
Realized gains on derivatives reclassified to cbgiroduct:
sold (3.9 (2.5)
Tax provision 1.2 1.C
Reclassification net of te $ (2.) $ (1.5)
Amortization of pension item:
Actuarial losse: $ 340 % 4112
Prior year service co (1.0 @ (0.9 @
33.¢ 40.¢
Tax benefit (13.0 (15.6€)
Reclassification net of te $ 20.¢ $ 25.2

(@ These accumulated other comprehensive loss caengmare included in the computation of net pecigdinsion cost. See Note 12 —
Pensions and Other P-retirement Benefits for additional dets
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11. Stock Based Compensatiol

The company adopted the A. O. Smith Combined Ineer@ompensation Plan (the “plan”) effective Jagugr2007. The plan was
reapproved on April 16, 2012. The plan is a cordtiman of the A. O. Smith Combined Executive InceatCompensation Plan which was
originally approved by shareholders in 2002. Thmber of shares available for granting of optionshware units at December 31, 2014, was
2,321,174,

Total stock based compensation expense recogniz2@li4, 2013 and 2012 was $10.8 million, $10.5iamland $6.8 million, respectively.

Stock options

The stock options granted in 2014, 2013 and 20Y2 Haee year pro rata vesting from the dates afitgiStock options are issued at exercise
prices equal to the fair value of Common Stocktendate of grant. For active employees, all optgnasited in 2014, 2013 and 2012 expire
ten years after date of grant. Stock option comgiors recognized in 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $4&omi$4.5 million and $3.2 million,
respectively. Included in the stock option expers®gnized in 2014, 2013 and 2012 is expense adsdavith the accelerated vesting of
stock option awards for certain employees who eidine retirement eligible or become retirementielegduring the vesting period.

Changes in option shares, all of which are ComntonkS were as follows:

(dollars in millions

Weighte-Avg. Aggregate
Per Shart Years Ended December Intrinsic Value

Exercise Pric 2014 2013 2012

Outstanding at beginning of year $ 22.3i 1,440,62: 1,530,73: 2,843,73:

Granted

2014- $46.47 to $50.67 per she 298,75(

2013- $34.92 to $52.93 per she 361,70(

2012- $22.08 to $22.99 per she 382,00(

Exercised

2014- $8.20 to $34.92 per she (158,25)) $ 2.€

2013- $8.20 to $22.99 per she (446,746 6.C

2012- $8.21 to $21.56 per she (1,686,83) 18.4

Forfeited

2014- $34.92 to $46.47 per she (4,119

2013- $22.99 to $34.92 per she (5,065

2012- $13.97 to $22.99 per she (8,16¢€)

Outstanding at end of year

(2014- $9.50 to $52.93 per shai 27.5C 1,577,00: 1,440,62: 1,530,73

Exercisable at end of yeal 20.1: 932,63¢ 740,91¢ 819,31.

The aggregate intrinsic value for the outstanding) @xercisable options as of December 31, 20138s3%million and $31.4 million,
respectively. The average remaining contractualftf outstanding and exercisable options is gjghts and seven years, respectively.
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11. Stock Based Compensation (continuec

The following table summarizes weighted-averagermftion by range of exercise prices for stockasioutstanding and exercisable at
December 31, 2014:

Options Weighted-
Options Weighter- Exercisable i Weighte- Average
Outstanding Remaining
Average December 3: Average Contractue
Range of December 3! Exercise Exercise
Exercise Price 2014 Price 2014 Price Life
$ 9.50 to $22.C 582,93: $ 15.9¢ 582,75¢ $ 15.9¢ 6 years
$22.99 to $34.¢ 688,38¢ 28.8¢ 345,95( 26.8¢ 8 years
$36.27 to $52.¢ 305,68( 46.5( 3,93 47.7: 10 years
1,577,00:. 932,63¢

The weighted-average fair value per option at e df grant during 2014, 2013 and 2012, usind@dlaek-Scholes optiompricing model, wa
$16.55, $12.57 and $8.26, respectively. Assumptieere as follows:

2014 2013 2012
Expected life (years) 6.C 6.1 6.2
Risk-free interest rat 2.7% 2.C% 2.C%
Dividend yield 1.1% 1.1% 1.4%
Expected volatility 36.6% 38.4% 39.4%

The expected life is based on historical exercedgalior and the projected exercises of unexeratmzk options. The risk free interest rate is
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effedhendate of grant for the respective expectedlifine option. The expected dividend yield
is based on the expected annual dividends divigatidégrant date market value of the company’s comstock. The expected volatility is
based on the historical volatility of the compangtsnmon stock.

Restricted stock and share ur

Participants may also be awarded shares of restrgtbck or share units under the plan. The compgeanyted 110,691, 144,696 and 167,860
share units under the plan in 2014, 2013 and 2@&pectively.

The share units were valued at $5.1 million, $5iian and $3.9 million at the date of issuance014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and

be recognized as compensation expense ratablyttwénree-year vesting period; however, includeshiare based compensation is expense
associated with the accelerated vesting of shatewards for certain employees who either areaetent eligible or become retirement
eligible during the vesting period. Compensatiopense of $5.9 million, $6.0 million and $3.6 millivas recognized in 2014, 2013 and
2012, respectively.

A summary of share unit activity under the plaassollows:

WeightedAverage

Number of Unit Grant Date Valu

Outstanding at January 1, 20 446,03t $ 26.1¢
Grantec 110,69: 46.5(
Vested (138,976 21.6:
Forfeited/cancelle: (1,467) 42.1°F
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 416,28 33.0¢

Total compensation expense for share units nategetgnized is $2.1 million at December 31, 2014 Weighted average period over which
the expense is expected to be recognized is 14hmont
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12. Pension and Other Pos-retirement Benefits

The company provides retirement benefits for a.ltmployees including benefits for employees ef¥jously owned businesses which w
earned up to the date of sale. The company alstwmafreign pension plans, neither of which is enat to the company’s financial position.

The company has a defined contribution plan whiglcmes 100 percent of the first one percent ofrdmrtons made by participating
employees and matches 50 percent of the next éveept of employee contributions. The company hEsodefined contribution plans for
certain hourly employees which provide for matchtognpany contributions.

The company also has a defined benefit plan farieal employees and its noamion hourly workforce. In 2009, the company anremehU.S
employees hired after January 1, 2010, would ndigi@ate in the defined benefit plan, and benaditruals for the majority of current salal
and hourly employees sunset on December 31, 2(HginBing in 2015, an additional company contribuitigll be made to the defined
contribution plan in lieu of benefits earned inedided benefit plan. The company also has defirgefit and contribution plans for certain
union hourly employees.

The company has unfunded defined-benefit posteratint plans covering certain hourly and salariegleyees that provide medical and life
insurance benefits from retirement to age 65. @Gehtaurly employees retiring after January 1, 1989@, subject to a maximum annual benefit
and salaried employees hired after December 313,288 not eligible for post-retirement medical éfis.

The company amended its pension plan in 2014 & afbne-time opportunity to pay pension beneditotmer employees in a lump sum.
These amendments did not have a significant impathe plan. Former employees eligible for the mtdny lump sum payment option are
generally those who are vested participants op#resion plan who terminated employment prior tauday 1, 2014 and who have not yet
started receiving monthly payments of their pensienefits. Eligible participants had until Octol3dr, 2014 to make their election. For the
approximately 2,700 former employees who made lihetien, the company made payments of approxim&®&0/million in December 2014
and funded the payments from existing pension a&sets. The company did not incur any non-castyebaelated to settling this liability as
the payments did not exceed settlement thresholds.
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12. Pension and Other Posretirement Benefits (continued)

Obligations and Funded Status
Pension and Post-Retirement Disclosure Informatiotnder ASC 715

The following tables present the changes in beoéfigations, plan assets and funded status foredtimpension and post-retirement plans
and the components of net periodic benefit costs.

Pension Benefit Pos-retirement Benefit
Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic 2014 2013 2014 2013
Accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) at December 3. $948.¢ $929.1 N/A N/A
Change in projected benefit obligations (PBO
PBO at beginning of ye: $(937.0) $(987.7) $ (109 $ (119
Service cos (7.9 (9.0 (0.2 (0.2
Interest cos (44.9) (39.5) (0.5 (0.5
Participant contribution — — (0.2 (0.3
Actuarial (loss) gain including assumption chan (83.2 39.€ — (0.3
Benefits paic 116.1 59.€ 1.2 1.7
PBO at end of yee $(956.9) $(937.0) $ (109 $ (10.9
Change in fair value of plan asset
Plan assets at beginning of y $ 822.: $ 800.t $ — $ —
Actual return on plan asse 110.1 80.¢ — —
Contribution by the compar 7.€ 0.€ 1.1 1.4
Participant contribution — — 0.2 0.3
Benefits paic (116.7) (59.6 (1.9 .7
Plan assets at end of ye $ 823.¢ $ 822.¢ $ — $ —
Funded status $(132.¢) $(114.7) $ (109 $ (109
Amount recognized in the balance she¢
Current liabilities $ (0.5 $ (7.0 $ (0.8 $ (0.9
Non-current liabilities (132.9 (107.6) (9.6 (10.0
Net pension liability at end of ye $(132.9*  $(114.5* $ (109 $ (109
Amounts recognized in accumulated other compreheng loss before tay
Net actuarial loss (gait $ 463.2 $ 467.1 $ (26 $ (29
Prior service cos (6.2) (7.2) — —
Total recognized in accumulated other compreheriess $ 457.1 $ 459.¢ $ (26 $ (29

* |n addition, the company has a liability for adé@n pension plan of $0.3 million and $3.1 milliahDecember 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively, and an accumulated other comprehehsss of $2.2 million at December 31, 20
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12. Pension and Other Posretirement Benefits (continued)

Pension Benefit Pos-retirement Benefit

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Net periodic benefit cost
Service cos $7¢ $9C $ 78 $01 $01 901
Interest cos 44 39.5 43.€ 0.5 0.t 0.t
Expected return on plan ass (60.5) (61.7) (68.9 — — —
Amortization of unrecognizet

Net actuarial loss (gair 35.1 42.C 32.1 (0.9 (0.3 (0.9

Prior service cos (2.0 (0.9 0.8 — — —
Curtailment and other o-time charge: 2.2 — — — — —
Definec-benefit plan cos 28.€ 27.¢ 13.¢ $02 $02 $0.2
Various U.S. defined contribution plans ¢ 6.1 5.4 5.C

$347 $335 ¢$18.€

Other changes in plan assets and projected beneéibligation recognized in
other comprehensive loss

Net actuarial loss (gait $33.4 $(58.7) $68.C $— $0.23  $(1.3)
Amortization of net actuarial (loss) ge (37. (420 (32 0.3 0.2 0.4
Amortization of prior service co: 1.C 0.6 0.8 — — —

Total recognized in other comprehensive | (2.9  (99.9) 36.7 0.3 0.€ (0.7)
Total recognized in net periodic cost (benefit) andther comprehensive los $257 (719 $50t $05 $0.c $0.E

The estimated net actuarial loss and prior semict for the pension plans that will be amortizexif accumulated other comprehensive loss

into net periodic benefit cost during 2015 are $18illion and $(1.1) million, respectively. The iesated net actuarial gain and prior year
service cost for the post-retirement benefit pléwas will be amortized from accumulated other coelygmnsive loss into net periodic benefit
cost during 2015 are each less than $0.2 milliacnpérmitted under ASC 715, the amortization of pngr service cost was previously
determined using a straight-line amortization &f tlost over the average remaining service perie@igfloyees expected to receive benefits
under the plan. Beginning in 2015 the amortizatidhoccur over the average remaining life expectaaf participants expected to receive
benefits under the plan as permitted under ASC 715.

The 2014 and 2013 after tax adjustments for additiomninimum pension liability resulted in other qom@hensive gain of $1.6 million and
$60.7 million, respectively.

Actuarial assumptions used to determine benefigabibns at December 31 are as follows:

Pension Benefit Pos-retirement Benefit

2014 2013 2014 2013
Discount rate 4.05% 4.85% 4.0(% 4.7(%
Average salary increas 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%

Actuarial assumptions used to determine net paribenefit cost for the year ended December 31sfellaws:

Pension Benefit Pos-retirement Benefit
Years ended December 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Discount rate 485% 4.0% 49(% 4.7(% 4.02% 4.9(%
Expected lon-term return on plan asse 7.7%% 8.0(% 8.5(% n/e n/e n/e
Rate of compensation incree 400% 4.0% 4.00% 4.00% 4.0% 4.0(%
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12. Pension and Other Posretirement Benefits (continued)
Assumptions

In developing the expected long-term rate of returrplan assets assumption, the company evalustpdrision plan’s target and actual asset
allocation and expected long-term rates of retdiragoity and bond indices. The company also comsdlés pension plan’s historical tgeai
and 25-year compounded annualized returns of G&peand 9.6 percent, respectively.

Assumed health care cost trend rates

Assumed health care cost trend rates as of Dece®dbare as follows:

2014 2013
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 7.25% 10.0(%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed tiinggthe ultimate trend rat 5.0(% 5.0(%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend 2021 201¢

A one-percentage-point change in the assumed hes¢hcost trend rates would not result in a materipact on the company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Plan Assets

The company’s pension plan weighted asset allatsiis of December 31 by asset category are asviollo

Asset Categol 2014 2013
Equity securities 50% 53%
Debt securitie: 37 34
Private equity 4 5
Real estat 8 7
Other 1 1

100%  10C%
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12. Pension and Other Posretirement Benefits (continued)

The following tables present the fair value measwet of the company’s plan assets as of Decemhe&(¥ and 2013 (dollars in millions):

Significant Othe Significant Noi-
Identical Contrac Observable Inpu observable Inpu
Asset Categol Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Short-term investments $ 23.1 $ 2.4 $ — $ 20.7
Equity securitie:
Common stock 264.4 264.¢ — —
Commingled equity fund 134.7 — 134.5 —
Fixed income securitie
U.S. treasury securitie 122.¢ 122.¢ — —
Other fixed income securitie 93.2 — 93.2 —
Commingled fixed income func 83.¢ — 83.¢ —
Other types of investmen
Real estate func 64.1 — — 64.1
Private equity 34.¢ — — 34.¢
Total fair value of plan asset investme $821.( $ 389.5 $ 311.5 $ 119.¢
Nonr-investment plan asse 2.6
Total plan asset $823.¢
December 31, 201
Quoted Prices i
Active Markets fo
Significant Othe Significant Non-
Identical Contrac Observable Inpu observable Inpu
Asset Categol Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Shor-term investment $ 15.4 $ 14 $ — $ 14.C
Equity securitie:
Common stock 272.¢ 272.¢ — —
Commingled equity fund 147.t — 147k —
Fixed income securitie
U.S. treasury securitie 136.2 136.2 — —
Other fixed income securitie 75.2 — 75.C 0.2
Commingled fixed income func 71.¢ — 71.¢ —
Other types of investmen
Real estate func 57.2 — — 57.2
Private equity 37.7 — — 37.7
Total fair value of plan asset investme $814.( $ 410. $ 294.: $ 109.:
Nonr-investment plan asse o8
Total plan asset $822.3

December 31, 201

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets fo
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12. Pension and Other Posretirement Benefits (continued)

The following table presents a reconciliation o thir value measurements using significant unoladde inputs (Level 3) as of December
2014 and 2013 (dollars in millions):

Other fixec
Real Private
Short termr income estate
investment securities funds equity Total
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 23: $ 03 $— $34.4 $ 58.C
Actual return (loss) on plan asse
Relating to assets still held at the reporting — — 1.6 2.4 4.C
Relating to assets sold during the pel — — — 0.8 0.€
Purchases, sales and settlem (9.9 — 55.€ 0.1 46.4
Balance at December 31, 20 14.C 0.3 57.2 37.7 109.2
Actual return (loss) on plan asse
Relating to assets still held at the reporting — — 6.2 1.€ 7.€
Relating to assets sold during the pel — (0.3 — 3.4 3.1
Purchases, sales and settlem 6.7 — 0.7 (7.9 (0.5
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 207 $ — $64.1  $34.6  $119.¢

The company'’s investment policies employ an apgragtereby a diversified blend of equity and bongestments is used to maximize the
long-term return of plan assets for a prudent leveisk. Equity investments are diversified acrdemestic and non-domestic stocks, as well
as growth, value, and small to large capitalizatidond investments include corporate and goverhisues, with short-, mid- and long-
term maturities, with a focus on investment gratbermvpurchased. The company’s target allocatiomuitye managers is between 45 to 55
percent with the remainder allocated primarily tmtts and a small allocation to real estate, priggtéty managers and cash. Investment and
market risks are measured and monitored on an pgdpsis through regular investment portfolio rexsdeannual liability measurements and
periodic asset/liability studies.

The company’s actual asset allocations are iniitle target allocations. The company regularly ess its actual asset allocation and
periodically rebalances its investments to thegtad allocation when considered appropriate.

There was no company stock included in plan asdddecember 31, 2014.

Cash Flows

The company was not required to and did not malgecantributions in 2014 and is not required to maleontribution in 2015.

Estimated Future Payments

The following benefit payments, which reflect extgetfuture service, as appropriate, are expectée fmaid:

Pos-retiremen

Years ending December 31 (dollars in millic Pension Benefi Benefits

2015 $ 59.7 $ 0.8
2016 60.€ 0.8
2017 59.c 0.7
2018 65.4 0.7
2019 59.2 0.7
2020- 2024 294.¢ 3.4
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13. Investment in Shares of RBC Common Stoc

As discussed in Note 2, the company received appaiely 2.83 million shares of RBC common stoclpag of the proceeds of its sale of
EPC to RBC. One half of the company’s shares of RB@mon stock were classified as available for satririties and were recorded at fair
value with an unrealized after-tax gain of $1.2lionil included in other comprehensive loss as ofdddwer 31, 2011. The company entered
into an equity collar contract for the remainingf lvdi its shares of RBC common stock which weressified as trading securities. Those
shares were also recorded at fair value. Durin@2the company sold all of its shares of RBC commstonk for net proceeds of $187.6
million or an average price of $66.19 per shard.p¥e-tax gains of $27.2 million were recorded hey income-net in the consolidated
statement of earnings in 2012. The net pre-tax2@iillion gain was comprised of $43.2 million ofigg on the sale of the shares of RBC
common stock, the recognition of a $1.9 millionrgpieviously recognized in other comprehensive &d3ecember 31, 2011 and the write

off of $17.9 million, the value of the collar at @amber 31, 2011. The $187.6 million of net proceedsived in 2012 were used to pay down
debt.

14. Income Taxes

The components of the provision (benefit) for ineotaxes consisted of the following:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic 2014 2013 2012
Current:
Federa $48.7 $53.¢ $51.5
State 10.4 9.6 7.2
Internationa 22.4 19.1 17.C
Deferred:
Federa (5.2 (8.9 (3.9
State (0.2 (0.5) 4.€
Internationa 2.8 (7.0 (5.3

$78.€ $66.7 $71.2

The provision for income taxes differs from the U&leral statutory rate due to the following items

Years ended December 2014 2013 2012
Provision at U.S. federal statutory rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State income and franchise taxes, net of federagfii 2.3 2.5 3.3
International income tax rate different- China (8.2 (8.2) (5.8
International income tax rate different- other 04 0.7 0.2
U.S. manufacturing crec (2.2 (1.9 (2.2
Research tax credi (0.9 (0.9 —
Other 0.5 0.8 (0.2)

27.5% 28.2% 30.4%

Components of earnings before income taxes weidlaw/s:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic 2014 2013 2012
U.S. $150.¢ $151.¢ $158.¢
Internationa 136.1 84.5 75.2

$286.5 $236.4 $233.¢

Total income taxes paid by the company includiregditinued operations amounted to $88.9 millio,$illion, and $103.0 million in
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

In the fourth quarter of 2012, the company recomdisdontinued operations expense of $6.4 milliggresenting the correction of an error
primarily due to its calculation of taxes due upepatriation of undistributed foreign earnings. Toerection was not material to any

previously reported financial period or to the yeaded December 31, 2012 and as a result has &eertad as the correction of an error in
the year ended December 31, 2012.
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14. Income Taxes (continued

As of December 31, 2014, the company has $50.7omitlccrued for its estimate of the tax costs dunuepatriation of undistributed forei
earnings it considers to be not permanently reileeeAt December 31, 2014, the company had unbiged foreign earnings of $717.7
million, of which $501.5 million are considered pemently reinvested. No. U.S. income tax provigioforeign withholding tax provisions
have been made on foreign earnings that remaingr@ntly reinvested. Determination of the amountroecognized deferred tax liability on
the undistributed earnings considered permaneaithywested is not practicable. In addition, no ps@mn or benefit for U.S. income taxes has
been made on foreign currency translation gaidesses. As of December 31, 2014, $541.9 millionasth and cash equivalents and

marketable securities were held by our foreign sliguges.

The tax effects of temporary differences of asantliabilities between income tax and financigloring are as follows:

December 31 (dollars in millior

Employee benefits

Product liability and warrantie
Inventories

Accounts receivabl
Property, plant and equipme
Intangibles

Environmental liabilities
Undistributed foreign earning
Tax loss and credit carryove
All other

Valuation allowanct

Net asse

2014 2013
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
$ 77.C $ — $ 66.¢ $ —
65.¢ — 64.t —
— 4.2 — 4.7
11.7 — 11.1 —
— 39.¢ — 33.C
— 52.1 — 40.C
3.1 — 3.2 _
— 50.7 — 56.
14.¢ — 17.7 —
4.7 — 2.4 —
9.9 — (9.6) —
$167.< $ 146.¢ $156.1 $ 134.1
$ 21.C $ 22.C

These deferred tax assets and liabilities areifiled$n the balance sheet as current or long-teased on the balance sheet classification of

the related assets and liabilities as follows:

December 31 (dollars in millior
Current deferred income tax assets
Long-term deferred income tax ass

Long-term deferred income tax liabiliti¢

Net asse

2014

2013

$40.E
1.
(21.9)

$ 40.1
2.
(21.0

$21.C

$22.C

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amaeurittax loss carryovers, credit carryovers andatbn allowances is as follows:

December 31 (dollars in millior

Beginning balance
Additions
Reductions

Ending balanc:

Net Operating Losses and Tax Cre:

Valuation Allowance:

2014 2013 2014 2013

$ 17.1 $ 152 $ oc $ 7.4
0.6 4.1 1.C 2.2

(3.4) (1.7) (0.9) —

$ 14.€ $ 17.7 $ 9. $ 9.6
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14. Income Taxes (continued

The company has foreign net operating loss carmngamat expire in 2015 through 2022, a foreigndaedit carryover that expires in 2021,
and state and local net operating loss carryobatsexpire between 2015 and 2031.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoesininrecognized benefits is as follows:

(Dollars in millions 2014 2013
Balance at January 1 $1.3 $1.3
Reductions for tax positions of prior yei (0.7 —

Balance at December : $1.2 $1.3

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits that,abgmized, would affect the effective tax rate is8h@illion. The company recognizes
potential interest and penalties related to unreizegl tax benefits as a component of income tarmes@. At December 31, 2014 there was an
immaterial amount of interest and penalties accrligd anticipated there will be no decrease mtttal amount of unrecognized tax benefits
in 2015. The company’s U.S. federal income taxrretdior 2011-2014 are subject to audit. The compsusybject to state and local income
tax audits for tax years 2000-2014. The comparsylgect to non-U.S. income tax examinations fory@806-2014.

15. Commitments and Contingencie:

The company is a potentially responsible partyitigial and administrative proceedings seekingeart up sites which have been
environmentally impacted. In each case the compasyestablished reserves, insurance proceeds anpédential recovery from third
parties. The company believes any environmentahslavill not have a material effect on its finarigasition or results of operations.

The company is subject to various claims and peniiwsuits for product liability and other mattarssing out of the conduct of the
company’s business. With respect to product lighdiaims, the company has self-insured a portioitsgroduct liability loss exposure for
many years. The company has established reserddsaarinsurance coverage which it believes areusdedo cover incurred claims. For the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the conmaan$125 million of product liability insurancer fiadividual losses in excess of $
million. The company periodically reevaluates ikp@sure on claims and lawsuits and makes adjusgnerits reserves as appropriate. The
company believes, based on current knowledge, ttatism with counsel, adequate reserves and inseraaverage that the outcome of such
claims and lawsuits will not have a material adgefect on the company’s financial position, résof operations or cash flows.

16. Operations by Segmen

The company is comprised of two reporting segmevdsth America and Rest of World. The Rest of Warddyment is primarily comprised
of China, Europe and India. Both segments manufa@nd market comprehensive lines of residentis| gas tankless and electric water
heaters and commercial water heating equipmenh 8agments primarily serve in their respectiveargiof the world. The North America
segment also manufactures and markets specialtyneooral water heating equipment, condensing andaomalensing boilers and water
system tanks. The Rest of World segment also matwurfs and markets water treatment products, pilymarAsia.
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16. Operations by Segment (continued

The accounting policies of the reportable segmargshe same as those described in the “Summaigoificant Accounting Policies”
outlined in Note 1. Operating earnings, definedh®/company as earnings before interest, taxegrakecorporate and corporate research and
development expenses, were used to measure tloemarfce of the segments.

Net Sales Earnings

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millic 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012

North America $1,621.° $1,520.( $1,430.¢ $238.7 $211.¢ $199.¢
Rest of World 768.: 668.( 542k 106.7 88.C 59.¢
Inter-segmen (34.0 (34.2) (34.0 (0.7) — —

Total segment- sales, operating earnin $2,356.( $2,153.6 $1,939.0 $345.C $299.¢ $259./
Corporate expenst (52.9 (57.¢) (16.9)
Interest expens (5.9 (5.7 (9.2
Earnings before income tax 286.7 236.4 233.¢
Provision for income taxe (78.9 (66.7) (71.2)
Earnings from continuing operatio $207.¢ $169.7 $162.¢

In 2014, sales to the North America segmetwo largest customers were $296.5 million and/&&illion which represented 13 percent

ten percent of the company’s net sales, respegtilreR013, sales to the North America segmentts favgest customers were $310.3 million
and $240.6 million which represented 14 percentEngdercent of the company’s net sales, respegtile2012, sales to the North America
segment’s two largest customers were $284.0 millioth $194.8 million which represented 15 percedtten percent of the company’s net

sales, respectively.

Assets, depreciation and capital expenditures by gment

Total Assets

Capital
Expenditures
(Years Ended

Depreciation and
Amortization (Years Ended

(December 31 December 31 December 31
(dollars in millions 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
North America $1,358.8 $1,298.¢ $1,306.: $37.& $40.E $39.2 $59.4 $38.C $24.7
Rest of World 523.¢ 525.2 420.z 20.C 16.€ 14.¢ 26.5 59.C 40.c
Corporate 633.( 567.i 552.4 2.C 2.4 1.C 0.2 0.7 4.9
Total $2,515.0 $2,391.! $2,278.f $59.¢ $59.7 $54.6 $86.1 $97.7 $69.C

The majority of corporate assets consist of caabh) @quivalents, marketable securities and defaroetne taxes.

Net sales and long-lived assets by geographic loiceat

The following data by geographic area includessaéts based on product shipment destination amdlieed assets based on physical
location. Long-lived assets include net propertgnpand equipment and other long-term assets.

Long-lived Assets Net Sales
(December 31 (Years Ended December &
(dollars in millions 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
United State: $262.1 $238.¢ $219.1 United State: $1,447.¢ $1,335.. $1,241.(
China 131.¢ 134.¢ 99.€ China 691.¢ 581.( 461.2
Canade 3.€ 4.7 20.4 Canade 128.¢ 142.5 150.1
Other Foreigr 58.3 46.4 35.€  Other Foreigr 87.t 94.¢ 87.C
Total $455.¢ $424.¢ $375.C Total $2,356.( $2,153.¢ $1,939.
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17. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

(dollars in millions, except per share amotL

1st Quarte 2nd Quarte 3rd Quartel 4th Quartel
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Net sales $552.2 $509.¢ $595.« $549.1 $581.6 $536.2 $626.¢ $558.¢
Gross profit 195.¢ 179.: 216.2 198.C 215.c 196.¢€ 231.¢ 199.¢
Net earning: 46.7 39.C 57.2 42.1 50.€ 46.2 3.2 42 .4
Basic earnings per she 0.51 0.4z 0.63 0.4t 0.5€ 0.5C 0.5¢ 0.4¢€
Diluted earnings per sha 0.51 0.4z 0.63 0.4t 0.5€ 0.5C 0.5¢ 0.4€
Common dividends declare 0.1t 0.1C 0.1f 0.1z 0.1f 0.1z 0.1t 0.12

Net earnings per share are computed separatebafdr period, and therefore, the sum of such qiyper share amounts may differ from
total for the year.

ITEM 9 - CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON A CCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A - CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Cligécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, tasluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as such tedafised in Rules 13a-15(e) under the SecuritiecshBRge Act of 1934, as amended (“the
Exchange Act”) as of the end of the period covdrgthis report. Based on such evaluations, ourf@Eiecutive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that, as of the end of qeiiod our disclosure controls and procedures fieeteve in recording, processing,
summarizing, and reporting, on a timely basis, rimfation required to be disclosed by us in the repihiat we file or submit under the
Exchange Act, and that information is accumulatedl @mmunicated to the Chief Executive Officer &idef Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely discussions regardieguired disclosure.
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Management Report on Internal Control Over Financid Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our management, vighparticipation of our Chief Executive Officer a@dief Financial Officer, has
evaluated the effectiveness of our internal cortver financial reporting based on the Internal @afintegrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tred@ommission (2013 framework). Based on this eatédn, our management has
concluded that, as of December 31, 2014, our iaterontrol over financial reporting was effective.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agect to risk that controls may become inadegbatause of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdotes may deteriorate.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered pusaticounting firm, has audited our consolidatedrfaial statements and the effectiveness
of internal controls over financial reporting asi#cember 31, 2014 as stated in their report wisiaicluded herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In the third quarter of 2014, we began the impletaitéon of a new global enterprise resource plansiygiem. This multi-year initiative is
being conducted in phases and includes modificatiorthe design and operation of controls ovemiaiel reporting. We are testing internal
controls over financial reporting for design effeehess prior to the implementation of each phasd,we have monitoring controls in place
over the implementation of these changes.

Except as described above, there have been noattheges in our internal control over financialaemg (as such term is defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities anchrge Act) during the year ended December 31, tdtcave materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our interoantrol over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B - OTHER INFORMATION
None
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
A. O. Smith Corporation

We have audited A. O. Smith Corporation’s intew@itrol over financial reporting as of December 114, based on criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issuedisy@ommittee of Sponsoring Organizations of thedway Commission (2013
framework) (the COSO criteria). A. O. Smith Corpgaa’s management is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financi
reporting, and for its assessment of the effecgégsrof internal control over financial reportinglirded in the accompanying Management
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporti@®gir responsibility is to express an opinion o& ¢bmpany’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those stande
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbtagsonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordx@r financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinadutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantegeinerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over firgad reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshef assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdegtessary to permit preparation of financakestents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeipnrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (Bjige reasonable assurance regarding preventiomely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then@iiz statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgect to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, A. O. Smith Corporation maintain@dall material respects, effective internal cohbver financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of A. O. Smith Corporation as ofebgxer 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consetiddaatements of earnings,
comprehensive earnings, stockholders’ equity, asth lows for each of the three years in the pegiodied December 31, 2014, and our
report dated February 17, 2015 expressed an ufigdadipinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
February 17, 2015
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PART IlI
ITEM 10 - DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information included under the headings “Etatf Directors” and “Board Committees” in our defive Proxy Statement for the 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed witlketBecurities and Exchange Commission under RegnladA within 120 days after the
end of the registrard’fiscal year) is incorporated herein by referefte information required regarding Executive Gifie of the company
included in Part | of this Annual Report on FormK@nder the caption “Executive Officers of the Gmany.”

We have a separately designated Audit Committestoch Gene C. Wulf, Gloster B. Current, Jr., Mark$nith and Idelle K. Wolf serve,
with Mr. Wulf, as Chairperson. All members are ipdedent under applicable SEC and New York StoclhBmge rules; the Board of
Directors of the company has concluded that Ms.f\&todl Mr. Wulf are “audit committee financial extgrin accordance with SEC rules.

We have adopted a Financial Code of Ethics apgkdabour principal executive officer, principahéincial officer and principal accounting
officer. As a best practice, this code has beewowgrd by all other company officers and key finahand accounting personnel as well. In
addition, we have adopted a general code of busitasduct for our directors, officers and all enyeles, which is known as the A. O. Smith
Guiding Principles. The Financial Code of Ethit® A. O. Smith Guiding Principles and other compaosporate governance matters are
available on our website at www.aosmith.cowie are not including the information containedooin website as a part of or incorporating it
by reference into, this Form 10-K. We intend tacttise on this website any amendments to, or waivens, the Financial Code of Ethics or
the A. O. Smith Guiding Principles that are reqdite be disclosed pursuant to SEC rules. There bagr no waivers of the Financial Code
of Ethics or the A. O. Smith Guiding Principleso&tholders may obtain copies of any of these cafpogovernance documents free of
charge by writing to the Corporate Secretary atithdress on the cover page of this Form 10-K.

The information included under the heading “Commtwith Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchangg i our definitive Proxy Stateme
for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (tdfiled with the Securities and Exchange Commissindar Regulation 14A within 120 de
after the end of the registrant’s fiscal yearnisorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11 - EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information included under the headings “Exeeu€ompensation,” “Director Compensation,” “Repafthe Personnel and
Compensation Committee” and “Compensation Commitie=rlocks and Insider Participation” in the compa definitive Proxy Statement
for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (tdfitkedd with the Securities and Exchange Commissioder Regulation 14A within 120 de
after the end of the registrant’s fiscal yearnisorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12 - SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information included under the headings “PpactiStockholders” and “Security Ownership of Dimstand Management” in our
definitive Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Miegiof Stockholders (to be filed with the Secustand Exchange Commission under
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end ofriagistrant’s fiscal year) is incorporated hergirréference.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information about @guity compensation plans as of December 31, 2014.

Number of securities

Number of securities remaining available fi
be issued upon the future issuance under
exercise of outstandit Weighted-average exercise equity compensation
price of outstanding optior plans (excluding
options, warrants and securities reflected in
Plan Categot rights warrants and right the first column’
Equity compensation plans approved by sec
holders 2,152,890 $ 27.5(® 2,321,170
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holder: — — —
Total 2,152,891 $ 27.5( 2,321,17.

(1) Consists of 1,577,003 shares subject to stodkmgt416,289 shares subject to employee share amit 159,604 shares subject to
director share unit:

(@ Represents the weighted average exercise pricetstamding options and does not take into accoutistanding share unit

(®  Represents securities remaining available faraisse under the A. O. Smith Combined Incentive Gamsption Plan. If any awards
lapse, expire, terminate or are cancelled withssuance of shares, or shares are forfeited ungeaveard, then such shares will becc
available for issuance under the A. O. Smith Comdilmcentive Compensation Plan, hereby increasieagitimber of securities
remaining available

ITEM 13 - CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIR ECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information included under the headings “Dioed¢hdependence and Financial Literacy”, “CompensaCommittee Interlocks and
Insider Participation” and “Procedure for ReviewR#lated Party Transactions” in our definitive Br&tatement for the 2015 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the Séties and Exchange Commission under Regulationi#Ain 120 days after the end of the
registrant’s fiscal year) is incorporated hereirréfgrence.

ITEM 14 - PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information included under the heading “Repdthe Audit Committee” in our definitive Proxy $aent for the 2014 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders (to be filed with the Securitiesl &ixchange Commission under Regulation 14A witt@a days after the end of the
registrant’s fiscal year) required by this ltemid4ncorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15 - EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(8) The following documents are filed as part of thisnial Report on Form -K:

1. Financial Statements of the Comps

Form 1(-K
Page Numbx
The following consolidated financial statement#of. Smith Corporation are included in Itenr
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2012048 29
For each of the three years in the period ende@&mber 31, 201«
- Consolidated Statement of Earnir 30
- Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Earr 30
- Consolidated Statement of Cash Flc 31
- Consolidated Statement of Stockhol¢ Equity 32
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem: 33-57
2. Financial Statement Schedu
Schedule |- Valuation and Qualifying Accoun 66

Schedules not included have been omitted becaageatie not applicable.

3.  Exhibits - see the Index to Exhibits on pages &3 of this report. Each management contract or emsgtory plan or arrangem
required to be filed as an exhibit to this reportrmrm 1K are listed as Exhibits 10(a) through 10(m) in ti@ex to Exhibits

Pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14a-3(b)(1&eSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amengedyill, upon request and
upon payment of a reasonable fee not to exceedtbat which such copies are available from thmufges and Exchange
Commission, furnish copies to our security holddrany exhibits listed in the Index to Exhibits.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on behalf of the undersigned, thereunto dutiiorized.

A. O. SMITH CORPORATION

Date: February 17, 2015 By: /sl Ajita G. Rajendra

Ajita G. Rajendre
Executive Chairman of the Board of Direct

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bawwaf February 17, 2015 by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name and Titl¢ Signature
AJITA G. RAJENDRA /s| Ajita G. Rajendra
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Exeeubfficer Ajita G. Rajendre
JOHN J. KITA /s/ John J. Kita
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi John J. Kite
DANIEL L. KEMPKEN /s/ Daniel L. Kempken
Vice President and Controll Daniel L. Kempker
RONALD D. BROWN /s/ Ronald D. Brown
Director Ronald D. Browr
GLOSTER B. CURRENT, Jr. /sl Gloster B. Current, Jr.
Director Gloster B. Current, J
WILLIAM P. GREUBEL /s/  William P. Greubel
Director William P. Greube
PAUL W. JONES /s/ Paul W. Jones
Director Paul W. Jone
MATHIAS F. SANDOVAL /s/ Mathias F. Sandoval
Director Mathias F. Sandov:
BRUCE M. SMITH /s/ Bruce M. Smith
Director Bruce M. Smitt
MARK D. SMITH /s/  Mark D. Smith
Director Mark D. Smith
IDELLE K. WOLF /s/ Idelle K. Wolf
Director Idelle K. Wolf
GENE C. WULF Is| Gene C. Wulf
Director Gene C. Wul
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit

Numbe

3)(0)

(3)(ii)

(4)

(10)

(@)

(b)

(©)

Descriptior

Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatioA.dd. Smith Corporation as amended through Apfil 2013,
incorporated by reference to the annual reportamFL(-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

By-laws of A. O. Smith Corporation as amended Apti] 2006, incorporated by reference to Exhibit &he quarterly
report on Form 1-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2(

Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatioA.dd. Smith Corporation as amended through Apsil 2013,
incorporated by reference to the annual reportamFL(-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated Bsadmber 12, 2012, among A. O. Smith CorporatiarQ Smith
Enterprises Ltd., A. O. Smith International Holdsng.V., and the financial institutions and ageragypthereto,
incorporated by reference to the current repoffem ¢&-K dated December 12, 201

The corporation has instruments that define thetsigf holders of long-term debt that are not bdilegl with this
Registration Statement in reliance upon Item 6q&{ki)i) of Regulation S-K. The Registrant agreedurnish to the
Securities and Exchange Commission, upon requegsies of these instrumen

Material Contract:

(@)
(b)
(©)
(d)
()
(f)

(9)

A. O. Smith Combined Incentive Compensation Plaogiporated by reference as Exhibit A to the PrStatement filed
on March 5, 2012 for the 2012 Annual Meeting ofcRtwlders.

A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Life InsurancarRlas amended January 1, 2009, incorporated bserafe to the
annual report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

A. O. Smith Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Pkdopted December 1, 2008, incorporated by referémthe
annual report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Supplemental RemPlan, as amended January 1, 2009, incorpobgteeference to
the annual report on Form-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Compitn Award Agreement, incorporated by referencééoForm S-8
Registration Statement filed by the corporatiordoly 30, 2007 (Reg. No. 3-144950).

Offer Letter to Paul W. Jones, dated December @3 2ihicorporated by reference to the annual repoform 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

Offer Letter to Ajita G. Rajendra, dated Septen@&r2004, incorporated by reference to the anrapnt on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS (continued)

Exhibit
Numbe

(21)
(23)
(31.1)
(31.2)

(32.1)
(32.2)
(101)

(h)

)
(k)

o

Descriptiot

Amendment to Offer Letter to Ajita G. Rajendra DhEebruary 25, 2009, incorporated by referenclaannual report on
Form 1(-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

Summary of Directors’ Compensation incorporatededfgrence to the quarterly report on Form 10-Qtfierquarter ended
June 30, 2012

A. O. Smith Corporation Senior Leadership Severdtaa, incorporated by Reference to the quartegyrt for Form 10
for the quarter ended June 30, 2C

Form of A. O. Smith Corporation Special Retentiomakd Agreement, incorporated by reference to ttetquy report on
Form 1(-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 20

Stockholder Agreement dated as of December 9, 2f¥iieen A. O. Smith Corporation and each Smitlestment
Company stockholder who becomes a signatory theretorporated by reference to the current reporftorm 8-K dated
December 9, 200t

Subsidiaries
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfiing.
Certification by the Chief Executive Officer, puesi to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act, dated February 17, 20:

Certification by the Executive Vice-President artdef Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 302rad
Sarbane-Oxley Act, dated February 17, 201

Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officerfuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13!
Written Statement of the Chief Financial Officer$uant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13!

The following materials from A. O. Smith Corporatie Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal yeaded December
31, 2014 are filed herewith, formatted in XBRL (Emsive Business Reporting Language): (i) the Catesi@ld Balance
Sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, (ii) tms@idated Statement of Earnings for the threesyeaded December
31, 2014, (iii) the Consolidated Statement of Caghpnsive Earnings for the three years ended Deae3ib@014, (iv) the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the theaes ended December 31, 2014, (v) the Consolidteement of
Stockholder’ Equity for the three years ended December 31, 2084(vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateis
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A. O. SMITH CORPORATION

SCHEDULE Il - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(Dollars in millions)

Years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

Balance ¢

Beginning Charged tc

Costs and

Description of Year Expense:l)
2014:

Valuation allowance for trade and notes receiv. $ 28 $ 14

Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass 9.€ 1.C
2013:

Valuation allowance for trade and notes receiv 4.2 0.2

Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass 7.4 2.2
2012:

Valuation allowance for trade and notes receiv. 34 1.€

Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass 8.4 3.C

1 Provision based upon estimated collec
2 Uncollectible amounts/expenditures or adjustmestsnded against the resel
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Deductions(

$

(0.5)
0.9)

(1.6)

(0.9)
(4.0

Balance ¢

End of

Year

$ 3.7

9.8

2.8
9.€

4.2
7.4



Exhibit 21

SUBSIDIARIES: The following lists all subsidiaries and affiliateEA. O. Smith Corporation.

Name of Subsidia

AOS Holding Compan

A. O. Smith International Corporatic

Flame Guard Water Heaters, |i

SICO Acquisition, LLC

Takagi- A. O. Smith Tankless Water Heater Company L
American Water Heater Compa

Lochinvar, LLC

State Industries, In

A. O. Smith Holdings (Barbados) SF
A. O. Smith Enterprises Lt

A. O. Smith (China) Investment Co., L

A. O. Smith (China) Water Heater Co., L

A. O. Smith (China) Water Products Co., L

A. O. Smith (Shanghai) Water Treatment Products Cd.
Nanjing A. O. Smith Gas Appliance Co., L

A. O. Smith l'eau chaude S.a.r

A. O. Smith (Hong Kong) Limite:

A. O. Smith India Water Products Private Limi
Products de Agua, S. de R.L. de C

A.O. Smith Electrical Products B.)

A.O. Smith Holdings Il B.V

A.O. Smith Holdings Il B.V.

A.O. Smith International Holdings B.\
A.O. Smith Products v.o.

A.O. Smith Water Products Company B

AO Smith Su Teknolojileri Anonim Sirke
A. O. Smith Water FZI

Lochinvar Limited
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Jurisdiction in Whic

Incorporatec
Delaware

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Nevada
Tennesse
Tennesse

Barbados
Canad:e

China
China
China
China
China

France
Hong Kong
India
Mexico

The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland
The Netherland

Turkey
United Arab Emirate
United Kingdom



Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-92329,92428, 333-144950 and 333-
170436) pertaining to the A. O. Smith Corporati@ng-Term Executive Incentive Compensation PlanAh®. Smith Combined Executive
Incentive Compensation Plan and the A. O. Smith Kined Incentive Compensation Plan and in the rélptespectuses of our reports dated
February 17, 2015, with respect to the consolidfitethcial statements and schedule of A. O. SmilpGration, and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting of A. Smith Corporation, included in this Annual Repdéiim 10-K) for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
February 17, 2015
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Ajita G. Rajendra, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of A. O. Smith Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or don#tate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the

period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamntisother financial information included in thipoet, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a)

b)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@porting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentinisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

Disclosed in this report any changes in thestegmt’s internal control over financial reportitigit occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registre’s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of director:

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 17, 2015

/sl Ajita G. Rajendra

Ajita G. Rajendr:
President and Chief Executive Offic
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, John J. Kita, certify that;

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of A. O. Smith Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or don#tate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamntisother financial information included in thipoet, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a)

b)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@porting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentinisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

Disclosed in this report any changes in thestegmt’s internal control over financial reportitigit occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registre’s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of director:

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 17, 2015

/s/ John J. Kita

John J. Kite
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
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Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbé&ndsy Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of A. O. Smitbrporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for thectl year ended December 31,
2014, as filed with the Securities and Exchange @@sion on the date hereof (the “Report”). I, AfdaRajendra, President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuamil8 U.S.C. 81350, as adopted pursuant to §9@itecBarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@alition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 17, 2015

/sl Ajita G. Rajendra
Ajita G. Rajendr:
President and Chief Executive Offic

This certification accompanies this Report pursdargection 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 shall not be deemed filed by the
Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Secariiechange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyné| be retained by the Company
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commissidts staff upon request.

71



Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbé&ndsy Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of A. O. Smitbrporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for thectl year ended December 31,
2014, as filed with the Securities and Exchange @@sion on the date hereof (the “Report”). I, JdhKita, Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,rpuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuar@6 &f the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@alition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 17, 2015

/s/ John J. Kita
John J. Kite
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

This certification accompanies this Report pursdargection 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 shall not be deemed filed by the
Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Secariiechange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyné| be retained by the Company
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commissidts staff upon request.
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